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FBI COﬁN’l‘ERlN TELLIGENCE PROGRAMS.

WEDNESDAY, NOVEMBER 20, 1974

HousE 0F REPRESENTATIVES,
Crvir RierTs AND CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS SUBCOMMITTER
or TEHE COMMITIEE ON THE JUDICIARY,
Washington, D.C.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 2:15 p.n., in Room
2141, Rayburn House Office Building, the onorable Don Edwards
[chairman of the subcommittee] presiding. )

Present: Representatives Edwards, Waldie, Sarbanes, Drinan,
Rangel, Wiggins, McClory, and Butler. .

Also present: Alan A. Parker, counsel; Arden B. Schell, assistant
counsel ; and Kenneth N. Klee, associate counsel.

Mr. Epwarbs. The subcommittee will come to order.

This past Monday, November 18, Attorney General William B.
Saxbe released a report regarding TBI Counterintelligence programs.

We have invited the Aftorney General and Mr. Lawrence Silber-
man, Deputy Attorney General, is here in his place, along with As-
sistant Attorney General Henry E. Petersen, and the Director of the
Federal Burean of Investigation, Clarence M. Kelley, to be with us
today to discuss this report. The purpose of our discussion today is
not to elicit specific details concerning specific groups or individuals.
We must be mindful as we proceed with our responsibility to protect
individual privacy and not to foster or be the vehicle for the dissemina-
tion of potentially harmful or damaging allegations in the course of
this meeting. )

With that caveat in mind, however, I do believe it essential to begin
the free exchange of information which will enable this subcommittee
to satisfy itself that the practices outlined in the report will be con-
trolled in the future (as my colleagne, Mr. Wiggins, has stated) by a
mechanism based on more than simple good faith.

Let me recount some background in order to set the stage for our
meeting.

The subcommittee’s attention was first directed to allegations of
questionable FBI activities when materials surfaced after an FBI office
wasg broken into in Media, Pa., in 1971. Following that break-in, a suit
was brought under the Freedom of Information Act by NBC newsman
Carl Stern. After an 18-month court battle, the FBI recently released
a number of memoranda which surfaced the so-called “COINTEL
PRO” operations.

The potential for invasions of constitutionally protected rights was
apparent, and a letter requesting a review of the operations of the FBI
“was signed by Chairman Rodino, and sent to the Comptroller Gen-
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eral of the United States, Blmer B. Staats, on June 3, 1974. Since that
date numerous meetings have been held between our staff and the staff
of the Comptroller General, between the staff of the Comptroller Gen-
eral and the FBI, and between the Comptroller General, personally, the
Attorney General and the Director of the FBI.

Today, nearly 6 months after Chairman Rodino’s original request,
the GAQ, the official congressional auditing agency, has still been
denied access.

In June 1974, we became aware of the investigation and report of
the Petersen committee. Chairman Rodino vequested the report by
letter to the Attorney General on June 28, 1974. The following has
transpired since that date:

July 10, 1974—The Attorney General advised Chairman Rodino
that he and Mr. Kelley had, in executive session, briefed the Senate
FBI Oversight Committee and offered in that letter to similarily brief
Mzr. Rodino and Mr. Flutchinson.

July 12, 1974—Chairman Rodino asked the Attorney General to
brief this subcomittee, as the appropriate oversight entity. No response
was recelved.

August 14, 1974—Chairman Rodino again asked the Attorney Gen-
eral that this subcommittee be briefed on the Petersen report. No re-
sponse was received.

Monday, November 11, 1974—Chairman Rodino and Mr. Hutchison
were briefed by Attorney General Saxbe and Mr, Kelley. Chairman
Rodino urged that the Petersen report be made public and that Mr.
Wiggins and I be briefed on the entire report. A meeting was ar-
ranged for this past Saturday. As you know, that morning the Sat-
urday Washington Star-News carried the entire story before we met.

T feel that I must express my personal reactions to the revelation
of the briefing last Saturday. They were of utmost concern and dis-
may, and T called an emergency session of the subcommittee the fol-
lowing Monday, at which meeting today’s hearing was scheduled.

This subcommittee is charged with legislative and oversight juris-
dietion over the constitutional rights of American citizens. We take
this responsibility most seriously. No provision of the Constitution,
law enacted by Congress. or Presidential executive order-—in my
view-—has authorized activities by the FBI such as those described in
the Petersen report. When I was an FBI agent may years ago, nothing
in any manual or rule book authorized such conduct, and if they do
today, they are without legal license.

Regardless of the nnattractiveness or noisy militancy of some pri-
vate citizens or organizations, the Constitution does not permit Fed-
eral inferference with their activities except through the criminal
justice system. armed with its ancient safeguards. There are no ex-
ceptions. No Federal agency, the CIA, the IRS, or the FBI, can be
at the same time policernon, prosecutor, judge, and jury. That is what
constitutionally guaranteed due process is all about. It may some-
times be disorderly and unsatisfactory to some, but it is the essence
of freedom.

I am disturbed by the spirited defense of the FBI’'s COINTELPRO
program by Mr. Kelley. In his November 18 statement My, Kelley

seems to say that the mere invocation of the catch phrase “national

3

security” justified the COINTELPRO prograw’s frightening litany
of Government violations of constitutional rights. - N

I suggest that the philosophy supporting COINTELPRO is the
subversive notion that any public official, the President or a policeman
possesses a kind of inherent power to set aside the Constitution swhen.
ever he thinks the public interest, or national security warrants it.
That notion is the postalate of tyranny.

Law enforcers cannot be lawbreakers. Attorney General Saxbe has
characterized aspects of these activities as “abhorrent in & free so-
ciety”. I join in ‘that statement and commend the Attorney General
for making this information public. We on this subcommittee intend
to assist him in making suve that the full story is told and that serious
efforts are begun for exercising responsible congressional oversight in
this area.

In order for this subcommittee to make the proper kind of deter-
mination in the exercise of its legislative oversight responsibilities
we must have correct, factual and complete information. Our requesf:
to the General Accounting Office to proceed with its andit and general
review was but one step in that direction—this hearing is another.

I can assure you that this subcommittee takes its jurisdiction and its
responsibilities in this matter most seriously. What we begin here to-
day, we shall vigorously continue in the future. ”

I wish to thank Mr. Kelley, Mr, Petersen, and Mr. Silberman, Tep-
resenting the Attorney General, for accepting our invitation on such
short notice.

Mr. Wiggins, do you desire to make an openine statement.

Mr. Wigarws. Yes; I do, Mr. Chairman. ‘

I concur in many of the remarks of my subcommittee chairman.

It seems to me, Mr. Chairman, that what we are here to discuss
are the counterintelligence and intelligence activities conducted in the
past by the I'BI and the Department of Justice and to insure that in
the future those activities shall in all cases be consistent with the law.

1 see no great public benefit in attempting to assess responsibility for
past actions, since there is a clear policy direction from the present
Attorney General that such condnet shall not reocenr, But we do have
the responsibility, Mr. Chairman, to monitor by coreful oversight the
activities of the Department to see that that policy is implemented
in the future.

T fully expect the cooperation of the Department of Justice and
the ¥BI in pursuit of these oversight responsibilities.

Of necessity however, our initial inquiry is going to focus upon the
operation described as COINTELPRO. I am concerned, Mr. Chair-
man that a description of those activities may probably prejudice na-
tional security concerns, may probably tend to defame, degrade, or
ridicule individuals, and may tend to prejudice constitutional rights
and statutory rights of privacy of those individuals.

We expect our witnesses to be candid with us and T am concerned
that that candor is properly within the context of a public hearing. We
are heve to discugs highly sensitive material; namely, the intelligence
activities of the Department of Justice. ‘ -

Accordingly, Mr. Chairman, with your permission T would like to
ask just a few preliminary questions of all three witnesses.
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I will direct the question to you, Mr. Silberman, and will expect
responses, if there is a contrary point of view, by Mr. Kelley and Mr.
Petersen.

In order to describe the activities generally known as COINTEL-
PRO, Mr. Silberman, is there a likelihood that the personal reputation
of any individual may be defamed or disgraced?

TESTIMCONY OF LAURENCE H. SILBERMAN, DEPUTY ATTORNEY
GENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES, ACCOMPANIED BY:
CLARENCE M. KELLEY, DIRECTOR, BUREAU OF FEDERAL IN-
VESTIGATION, AND HENRY E. PETERSEN, ASSISTANT ATTORNEY
GENERAL, CRIMINAL DIVISION

Mr. Susrraran. Depending upon the scope of the questions, I think
there is very much that danger, Congressman Wiggins.

Mr. Wicarns. Is there the possibility that full and candid answers
may jeopardize the personal sccurity of individuals?

Mr. Smseraan. Again, depending on the scope of the questions, the
answer, of course. is yes.

Mr. Wigoins. Is there the possibility that full and candid answers
compassed within the COINTELPRO program without running the
risk which you have just described ?

Mr, Smseraan. Not fully, no, because when we got into the question
of individnal groups we have rights of privacy which we are quite con-
cerned about.

Mr. Wiceins. Is there a risk to national security—and I might add
that that term in our rules is not confined to external threats to the
security of this nation—if full and candid answers to questions con-
cerning the COINTELPRO are disclosed to this committee.

Mr. Sipermax. Certainly with respect to some nortions of what
have been referred to as the counterintelligence programs.

M. Wigamvs. In light of those answers do either My, Peterson or Mr.
Kelley take exception to the remarks of the Deputy Attorney General.

Mor. Prrersen. Not at all,

M. Krreey. I do not,

My Wiearns, In light of that. 31, Chairman, the Chair may wish on
its own motion to move that these hearings be closed and that we pro-
ceed in executive session.

Mr. Epwarns. Do you so move ¢

Mr. Wigerns. T am fivst inviting you to do so. :

Mr. Epwarps. Mr. Waldie. :

Mr. Warom. T wish to speak in open session to the implication that
a case has been made that the rule of the Houre demanding executive
sessions when material is being adduced that will tend to degrade and
defame—I do not believe that the answers have in fact made that case.
My own belief is that when a ouestion is asked that would elicit a
response that would fall within those prohibitions, that then is the
time to advance the proposal that we go into exeeutive session.

T must say execntive sessions do not seem to me to be the way to pro-
tect the privacy of individuals and organizations. It is the invasion of
their privacy that was done in an executive manner that has even

iz eroa
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brought about the necessity of these hearings. When the cloak of se-
crecy surrounds the activities of the agencies that ave presently bein
examined by this conumittee, privacy suffers. It is not enhanced, anc
it does not seem to me that this legislative branch should in any way
be a contributor to the aura of secrecy that has been established and
brought about by what appeavs, on the face, to have been an abuse of
executive power, I believe the facts warrant an open and candid in-
vestigation and examination of those facts. If there is an instance when
an individual will be injured by any testimony that will be adduced by
any particular question, that would be the time to assert the application
of the rule and not during the hypothetical problem posed here that
might eventually occur. ;

Myr. Epwarns. Mr. McClory.

Mr. McCrory, Thank you, Mr, Chairman.

The preliminary question, directed by my colleague, Mr. Wiggins,
indicates very positively that it would be proper for our committee to
close this hearing to the public, and it seems to me that this is the proper
time for us to take that action. :

Clause 27(f) (2) of rule XI of the rules of the Ilouse refers to a
committee meeting where all or part of the remainder of a hearing
would involve testimony, evidence or other matters which might en-
danger the national security, or, to other rules of the ITouse such as
rule XTI, clause 27 (m), where the hearing may tend to defame, degrade
or incriminate any person. Then the rule is that we shall take action
to receive the testimony in this case in executive session.

Now, I feel very jealous of the prerogatives of this committee. I
don’t want us to have a hearing here which does nothing more than to
reiterate what we have read in the papers or what we have seen in
press releases, If we are going to perform a true oversight function, it
seems to me we have to get into the details, personal details, involving
names and events and other detailed information which is vital for us
to receive in order to determine to what extent, if to any extent whatso-
ever, the jurisdiction and authority of the Tederal Burean of Investi-
gation has been excepted.

I am very anxious that we protect the civil rights of all concerned,
including those that have been subjected to this counterintelligence
activity, but likewise the individual rights of those who may be named
in the conrse of this hearing; and I am confident that we can do a more
thorough and a more responsible job consistent with our oversight
functions if we take action under clause 27 to liave the meating closed.

Mr. Wicerns. Would you yield?

Mr. McCrory. Yes.

Mr. Wigerns. I would like the members to know what my inten-
tion is.

I have not yet made the motion to close the hearing into executive
session, but that would be my intention; however, I would like the
members to know that it seems to me that there will certainly come
a time when open hearings into this subject will be completely proper,
but we are treading on new ground here. We do not fully understand
the scope of the testimony which is about to be offered nor the pos-
sible sensitive nature of it, and befors ws barge ahead in public, I
would think that the better part of discretion is that we have what
amounts to a briefing session in advance with these distinguished wit-
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nesses so as to understand the scope of their testimony, the likely
nature of it. and ifs possibhle senaitivity. o

It is very difficult to_discuss these important preliminary matters
in an open session, and that is my motive in preparing at least to
offer a motion to close.

Mr, Epwarps. Mr. Sarbanes.

Mr, Sarsavns. Mr, Chairman, I would oppose the motion to close
and I simply want to note that the chairman of the full committee,
Chairman Rodinoe, wrote on three separate occasions to the Attorney
General with respect to a report on these activities, that no answer at
all was forthcoming to the latter two of those letters, and that on the
18th of November, namely, on Monday of this week, the Attorney
Gieneral in an open public briefing session to the Eress promised either
to give the entire contents or at least a considerable portion of a sum-
marized version thereof of the Petersen veport to the press in a public
session.

The Director has issued, I gather, a public statement as a follow-
up to the statement of the Attorney General’s, and it seems to me
that at a minimum we should proceed here now in an open fashion
to consider a briefing with respect to those materials and questions
pertaining thereto.

The response to the questions addressed by Mr. Wiggins earlier
obviously indicate that in part whether we even hegin to involve any
question of the rules depends on the scope of the questioning and
there is certainly plenty of material to be reviewed and briefed to
this committee and inquired about, which has already been done in
an open and public manner by the Department to the press, and it
seems to me that the committee ought to proceed in open session at
least until we have explored that matter.

Mr, Epwarns, We will recess for purposes of the vote nntil 2:45.

[Short recess.]

Mr. Eowarns. The subcommittee will come to order.

Mr., Wiggins.

Mr. Wirggiws. Mr. Chairman, we have discussed where the vntes
are. and I have four, the chairman has four, and unfortunately I must
make a motion. And that means the motion will not prevail; but let
us go through the motion, Mr, Chairman.

I move that these hearings be closed and that the committee ad-
journ into executive session for the purpose of hearing the testimony
of the witnesses.

The motion is made pursuant to the rules of the committee and
the rules of the House.

. M{. Fpwarns. Those in favor of the motion signify by raising their
ands.

[ Wigeins and MeClovy raised their hands.]

Mr. Bpwarns, Those opposed ?

[Drinan, Sarbanes, Waldie, and Edwards raised their hands.]

Mr. Epwarps. Four to four. The motion does not carry.

Mr. Sumernman. I would be glad to cast a vote if you need some-
one to brealk a tic.

Mr. Epwarps, You have to go through an election, Mr. Silberman.

Mr. Smperyan. Mr. Kelley or Mr. Potersen, do any of you have
opening statements?
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Mr. Smseryan, Yes, I have a brief statement I would ik ¢

Mr. Epwarps. Mr. McClory. 4 ke fo make.

Mr. MoCrory. As I read the rule, it says that the motion is to be
determined on a volleall vote and T suggest a rollcall.

Mr. Eowaros. The Clerk will call the roll. '

Mr. Parxrr. Mr. Waldie.

My, Warpm. No.

Mr. Parxer. Mr. Sarbanes.

Mr. Saxsanes No.

Mr. Parker. Mr. Drinan.

Mz, Drixax. No.

Mr. Parxzr, Mr. Rangel.

[No response,]

Mr. Parxer. Mr. Wiggins
Mr. Wieoins. Aye.

Mr. Parrer. Mr. McClory.
Mr. McCrory. Aye.

Mr. Pareer, Mr. Butler.
Mr. Wicarns. Proxy Aye.
Mr. Parxzr. Mr. Latta.
Mr. Wicerns, Proxy Aye.
Mr. Parker, Mr, Edwards.
Mr. Epwarps. No.

fﬁl\gr. Parxer. The vote, Mr. Chairman, is four to four. The motion

Mr. Eopwarps. The motion fails.

Mr. Silberman?

. Mr. Stepraax. Yes, Mr. Chairman, T would just like to make a
fow brief remarks concerning some of the matter you alluded to in
your opening statement. .

The Attorney General has in previous conferences with the chair-
man of the full committee indicated his desire to arrive at a consensus
or an understanding with Chairman Rodino as to the most effective
manner in which this subject, which is discussed here today, as well
as other subjects, could be discussed with the appropriate committee
or_subcommittee of the Flouse.

We have been faced, Mr, Chairman, with conflicting demands from
several committees. As you may be aware, the subject which is dis-
cussed here today has in some respects been alluded to and explored
by Congressman Tchord’s committee, which I understand still has
hearings going on, on this subject. Beyond that, Congressman Kasten-
meier has written letters to the Attorney General asking for responses
on a number of materials, a number of questions which we feel fall
within the province of an BT oversight committee.

Now, the Senate did in fact set up a special subcommittee of the
Judiciary Committee of the Senate, which is an FBI oversight sub-
committee, and to which the Attorney General in the spring of last
year brought all of the matters concerning the counterintelligence
programs, otherwise referred to as COINTELPRO.

It is our view, of course, anc a number of other people have ex-
pressed the view that it may be wise to have a joint Senate-ITouse
committee, but of course, that is & matter for the Flouse and the Sen-
afe to determine. But in any event, I have talked to Chairman Rodino,
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even as late as yesterday, concerning the question of whether or not
he or others would set up one committee whose only function would
be FBI oversight, because we regard that as a terribly important
matter and we think this Congress ought to be set up to respond to
that challenge. . .

So that has been & matter that has been under discussion for a
number of months and from my understanding from Chairman
Rodino yesterday, it is still not finally determined.

Mr. Epwarns. Mr. Silberman, back in June the Chairman of the
full committee assigned this responsibility. Attorney General Saxbe
has a number of letters so stating. This is a matter for the Touse of
Representatives to determine.

Mr. SieerMaN. Absolutely. ) )

Mr. Eowarns. And we have made this determination and we will
now proceed.

Do you have a statement, any of the three of you gentlemen, on the
program itself, which is the subject of this hearing.

Mr. Sterrvan. No, we are here prepared to respond to your ques-
tions, Mr. Chairman. We didn’t have time to prepare a statement.

Mr. Epwaros. I just have one very short question before I yield to
my colleagues. . )

Mr. Kelley, is this program still in operation to any extent
whatsoever? . . .

Mr. Kerrey., The COINTELPRO program is not in existence at
this time.

Mr. Enwarvs. Mr, Kelley, Mr. Petersen, to the best of your knowl-
edge, did the program, when it was in existence, entail any burglaries,
electronic surveillance, wiretaps, or violence by governmental
employees? ) _

Mr. Prrrrsen. We came across no evidence of that in the examina-
tion we condueted, which was an examination of COINTEL files. But
T have to be candid. While electronic—first of all there was no eyi-
dence of burglary or assault or anything like that involved, but with
respect to clectronic surveillance, well, electronic surveillance was not
part of the program. It may have been that some who were sub]ec,t
to counterintelligence activity were under other areas of the Bureauw’s
activities also subject to electronic surveillance. For example. there
is a suit pending by the Socialist Workers Party which alleges illegal
electronic surveillance, which the Government is defending. They have
subsequently amended their complaint to include allegations based
wpon the counterintelligence program. So I don’t want to mislead you.
Qo far as I was able tc determine, and the Bureau supports this in
their commentary to us, electronic surveillance as such was not part
of the COINTELPRO program.

Mr. Epwarps, Thank you.

Mr. Wiggins. . .

Mr. Wracrns. Mr. Silberman, thus far, what this committee knows
about the counterintelligence program it has obtained as a result of
private briefings from the Attorney General and matters contained in
the press. .

T would like you as part of your testimony to lay the record before
this committee and, therefore, before the Clongress, with respect to the
inception of the program, how long it was maintained, what its activi-
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ties were, and the number of individual cases where the program was
applied. In short, Mr. Silberman, we should have for our record, at
least, a history of what has occurred.

Mr. SitsErMAN. Mr. Wiggins, I think the answers to all of those
four questions are contained in the document which the Attorney Gen-
eral 1aeleused on Monday and which I would ask be made part of this
record.

Mzr. Wicerns. Mr. Chairman, I request that the Attorney General’s
statement with respect to the COINTEL program be made a part of
our record =t this point.

Mr. Eowarps. Without objection it will be entered.

['The prepared statement of Hon. William B. Saxbe follows:]

STATEMENT OF HoN, WiLLiAM BB, SAXBE, ATTORNEY GENERAT OF THE UNITED STATES

In January of this year during the course of my initial briefing on current issues
facing the Department of Justice, I was informed of the existence of an FBI
“(ounterintelligence Program”,

After ascertaining the general thrust of the counterintelligence programs, I
directed Assistant Attorney Genernl Ilenry Petersen to form a committee charged
with the responsibility of conducting a complete study and preparing a report for
me whieh would document the Bureaw's activities in each of the separate counter-
intelligence programs. That study committee consisted of four Criminal Division
representatives and three representatives from the Federal Bureaun of Investiga-
tion, selected by Director XKelley.

The Committee's report to me stated that there wore seven separate programs—
five directed at domestic organizations and individuals, and two programs directed
at foreign intelligence services, foreign organizations and individuals connected
with them. These programs were implemented at varicus times during the period
from 1958 to 1971 when all programs were digcontinued. The Committee further
found that 3247 counterintelligence proposals were submitted of which 2370
were approved. In 627 instances, known results were ascertained.

It is not, my intention at this time to detail for you the particulars of the seven
programs inasmuch as you have been provided with a copy of the Committee’s
report which has been edited to delete national security information. That docu-
ment describes fully the activities involved in each of the programs,

The materials released today disclose that, in a small number of instances,
some of these programs involved what we consider today to be improper activities.
I am disturbed about those improper activities. However, I want to stress two
things: first, most of the activities conducted under these counterintelligence
programs were legitimate-—indeed, the programs were in response to numerous
public and even Congressional demands for stronger action by the Federal
Government, Second, to the extent that there were, nevertheless, isolated excesses,
we have taken stepg to prevent them from ever happening again. In this con-
netion, Director Kelley last December sent a memorandum to FBI personnel
strongly reaffivming the Bureau policy that: “FBI employecs must not engage
in any investigative activity which could abride in any way the rights guaranteed
to a citizen of the United States by the Constitution and under no circumstances
shall employees of the FBI engage in any conduct which may result in defaming
the character, reputation, integrity, or dignity of any citizen or organization of
citizens of the United States.”

Attorney General William B, Saxbe and ¥aderal Bureau of Investigation
Director Clarence M. Kelley released today the details of certain counterintelli-
gence programs conducted by the I'BIX from 1956 to 1971 against several demestic
and foreign-based subversive or disruptive groups, organizations, and individuals.

These efforts, whirh carried the designation “COINTHELPRO,” were targeted
against the Communist Party U.8.A., the Socialist Workers Parcy, the New
Left, White Hate groups, and Black Extremist organizations, as well as certain
espionage operations and hostile foreign-based intelligence services.

The materials released today significantly expand upon material released in
December, 1973, by Director Kelley concerning the counterintelligence program
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conducted against radical and violent elements as part of the COINTELPRO—
New Left FBI COINTELPRO ACTIVITIES

1. INTRODUCTION

tall, 1978, the Departwent of Justice disclosed certain documents r_e\at'}ng
i‘nh:ll 1"::(11111}313’11tol]igmice” program of the TFederal Bureau 0§ Investlgatfon
entitléd “COINTBLPRU—New Left)! Among the documents (hsc!o_sed was 4
oirective invicating that the FBI had also 1n§t1tute(1 six othexr countemntelpg?nce
programs (“COINTELPRO"), to wit} Espionage; White Hate Groups: .(,0}1}~
munist Party, U.S.A.; Special Operations; Black Extremists and the Socialist
Workers Party. Based on these disclosures, additional requ$s‘ts hz)we been' mgde
for numerous other documentsl relating tot these FBI COINTELPRO activities.
This naper is (o response to those requests. .
lhIl; })11111)8}111;, iﬁ)?% Aittm'ney General Wil}inm Saxbg requested f\ssmtant;rAttor)nvy
Generul Henry Petersen to form o committee to review these ¥BI COINTELI ‘RO
activities. The Committee was chaired by Agsistant {&ttomey Geneml‘ Petersen,
and consisted of four Criminal Division rept:@seutatwes and three FBI vepre-
sentatives selected by FBI Directox Clarence Kelley. . o
In June, 1974 the various COINTELPRO programus were Aiscussed at !ength‘ By
Altorney General Saxbe and FBI Director Kelley with the FBI Qver§1‘ght Sub-
cummitéee of the Senate Judiciary Committee, More recently, 'the COL\CLE_LPRO
activities of the FBI were discussed by, Attoyney_ General Saxbe m_ld IJlr(x:ci‘:or
Kelley with Chairman Rodino and Ranking Minority Member Hutchingon of the
TTIouse Judiciary Committee.

I1. THE COINTELPRO PROGRAMS

A. Opigin, scope, and objectives of COINTELPRO activilies

The term “COINTELPRO" is a generic term used by the FBI to deseribe seven
separate sepnnterintelligence” programs which t_'_he Bureau xmplcmex}ted qt aif-
forent times during the period from 1956 to 19:1, when all were l(hsgo'ntl.nued.
Yive of these programs were directed at domestic-bused gr‘oup§ m}(\ m(hv‘mun]:——-
Communist Party, U.8.A, the forernnner of all pther (,OIB'TLLPRO_S ((1_‘._)06—
1971) ; Secinlist Workers Party (1961-1970) ; White Hate 91'0111)5: (19&)4—»1.)11)';
Black Tixtremists (1967-1971); and New Left (1965-1971). The documents
authorizing these five programs define ﬂmi}- ob_‘)eptwe as being either snnl‘)]y ghe
disruption of the group’s activities; or the disruption, exposure and nentralization
Ul’i’llfe? ié)ther two COINTELPRO programs were in the area of foreign counter-
intelligence—Espionage or Soviet-Satellite Intelligen.ce, which was in effect from
1964 to 1971; and Special Operations, which was in effect from 1967 to 1971,
According to Bureau documents, the overall obaectivgs of_ these two programs
were to encourage and stimulate a variety of counter_mtelhgen_ce gﬁ?orts agqms_t
hostile foreign intelligence sources, foreign Communist organizations and indi-
viduals connected with them.

B. The background end contert of COINTEBELPRO activities

A fair, accurate and comprehensive understa_ndiug ot t'he ynrious COINTHL-
PRO activities undertaken by the FBI is possible only in light of the context
and climate in which the programs were established.

As indicated above, COINTELPRO—Communist Party, USA was t£1e1prede~
cessor—and in some respects the model—of subsequent FBI GOINI‘I«J‘JPRQ’
activitigs, The Communist Party, USA program grew out of t_he “Red Scare
of the early and middle 1950's. This era of Amemcan_pohtlcal history was chir-
acterized by the growth and decline of “McCa;tpyxsq:;” numerous and well-
publicized “spy trials;” and, in general, a prevailing view in Congress and the
American people that the Federal Government should tal_:e appropm'ate steps
against dowmestic subversion. The period was also characterized h_y a \wdespr_ea‘d
concern that subversive elements, spearheaded by the Com_muplst Party, were
not only. pervasive, but were also in varying degrees.e;ffectm:e in spch areas 18
sabotage and espionage. Morveover, although domgstmally based, it was clear
that the operations and activities of the Communist Party USA were in fact
divected by foreign countries. Indeed, the faet of ﬁorelgn (Soviet) direction ax}d
control of the Communist Party USA was recognized by the Supreme Court in
Communist Party USA v. United States, 368 U.S, 87L
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The original COINTHLPRO wags, then, conceived as a ‘“counterintelligence"
effort in the purest sense. Moreover, the overwhelming bulk of the nctivities
carried out under the program were legitimate and proper intelligence and in-
vestigative practices and fechniques, What was new in the CO/NTELPRO effort
was primarily the fargeting of these activities against one specified group or cate-
gory of organizations. Although, as discussed in more detail below, some COIN-
TEI{PRO activities involved isolated instances of practices that can only be
considered abhorrent in a free society, it is important to understand that these
improper activities were not the purpose or indeed even the major characteristic
of the BY's COINTELPRO efforts.

COINTRLPRO-—Socinlist Workers Party, undertaken in 1961, appears to have
been a direct oufgrowth of the earlier effort targeted against the activities of
the Communist Party, USA, Later COINTIRLPRO activities were based on the
Communist Party, USA model, but reflected the changing threats to domestic
order that emerged in the decade of the 1960,

The next COINTELPRO undertaken was against White Flate Groups. This
program, which began in 1964, grew out of tlie disruptive and harrassing activi-
ties of these groups in their attempt to subvert the civil rights movement. TThe
activities of these groups were charncterized by lynchings, burnings, bombings,
and the like—a climate of violence and lawlessness which society and its law
enforcement mechanisms seemed incapable of countering.

The next COINTHELFRO undertaken was against Black BExtremists in 1967.
As in the case of the White Hate Groups, the activities of these extremist groups
were marked by violence, arson and bombings. In addition, the activities of
many of these extremist groups included police shootings and, as is well known,
the fostering and fomenting of riots and other civil disturbances in cities all
across the land. )

Finally, many of those activities were led by or inelnded individuals who
publicly proclaimed their association with the political docteines or leadership
of hostile countries, including Communist nations.

The last domestic COINTHRLPRO was instituted in 1968 agaiunst the “New
Left.” 'fhe origin and purposes of this offort weee best deseribed by FRT Director
Kelley in a press release on December 7, 1073 :

“In the late 1900's, a hard-core revolutionary mosvement which came to
be known as the ‘New Left’ set out, in its own words, to bring the Govern-
ment to ity knecs through the use of force and violence.

“What started as New Left movement chaiting of Marxist-Leninist slo-
gans in the early years of their ‘revolution’ developed info violent econtempt,
not only for Government and Government officials, but Zor every responsible
American citizen.

“During these years, there were over 300 arsons or attempted arsons, 14
destructive bombings, 9 persons killed, and almost 600 injured on our college
campuses alone, In the school year 1968-69, damage on college campuses
exeeeded 3 million dollars and in the next year mounted to an excess of 9.5
million,

“In this ntmosphere of lawlessness in the cities mobs overturned vehicles,
set fires, and damaged public and private property. There were threats to
sabotage power plants, to disrupt transportation and communications facili-
ties. Intelligence sources informed the ¥BI of plans that were discussed to
poison publie water supplies.

“At this time of national crisis, the Government would have been derelict
in its duty had it not taken measures to protect the fabric of our society.
The FBI has the responsibility of investigating allegations of criminal
violations and gathering intelligence regarding threats to the country’s
security. Because of the violent actions of the leadership of the New Left,
FBI officinls coucluded that some additional effort must be made to neu-
tralize and disrupt this revolutionary movement, This effort was called the
‘Counterintelligence Program-—New Left’ or ‘COINTHLPRO-New Left.

“YWhile there is no way to measure the effect of the FBI's attempt at
countersubversion, I believe that it did have some impact on the crisis at
that time.

“Now, in the context of a different era where peace hag refurned to the
college campuses and revolutionary forces no ionger pose a major threat
to peace and tranquality of our cities, some may deplore and condemn
the FBI's use of a counterintelligence program-—even against hostile and
arrogant forces which openly sought to destroy this nation,

e d——
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«T share the public’s deep concern about the citizen’s right to privacy and
the preservation of all rights guaranteed under the Constitution and Bill
of Rights.”

As indi%ated in Director Kelley's statement—and as is appsrent in the case
of @l COINTELPRO activities—"there is no way to measure the effect of the
FBI's attempt at countersubversion,” Unfortunately, no empirical data exist
with respect to the effectiveness of tbe various COINTHLPRO efforts under-
taken in countering the threats perceived to the domestic order. Perhaps the
nature of intelligence work is such that no such objettive measure exists.

©. Authorization and implementation of OOINTBLPRO activities

According to FBI documents, all seven programs implemented under COIN-
TRLPRO were specifically authorized by former FBI Director J. Edgar Hoover.
GINTRLPRO programs were apparently not reported to any of the Attorneys
Ceneral in office during the periods in which they swere implemented. Only
certain aspects of the Bureau's efforts to penetrate and disrupt the Communist
Party USA and White Hate Groups—apparently conducted under COINTEL-
PRO although not specifically stated as such (the term “COINTELPRO” was
used only inside the Bureau), were reported to at least three Attorneys General
and key White House staff of two Presidents between 1958 and 1909, It must
be emphasized that none of the activities so reported involved any improper
conduct. One additional Attorney General during this period was briefed on
the Bureaw’s “counterattack” against the Communist Party USA.

Tinally, Bureau documents disclosed that the House Appropriationg Subcom-
mittee was briefed on the Bureau's counterintelligence programs including the
character of COINTELPRO and examples of specific activities undertaken
in connection with this program, as early as 1958, Under the directives estab-
lishing the programs, no covnterintelligence action could be initiated by the
field without specific prior Bureau authorization. Except in a very small number
of instances this poliey was strictly adhered to. The great majority of actions
were either apnroved or disapproved at the Asgigtant Director level or above,
while  very small number were acted on at a lower level.

D. Statistical analysis of COINTBLPRO activitics

As indicated above, the maximum time span of all seven COINTRLPRO pro-
grams covered the period 1956 to 1971. All programs, however, were not in
effect during this entire period, .

With respect to the five programs directed af domestic-based organizations
and individuals, a total of some 8,247 proposals for counterintelligence activity
were submitted by the varions FPBI field offices for consideration from the in-
ception of the programs in 1956 to their termination in 1971—more than half
of them arising under the Communist Party USA program. Some 2,370 of these
proposals, or approximately 739%, were approved and implemented. Of those
proposals which were approved and implemented, known results were obtained
in only some 527, or approximately 22%.

The individual statistics on each of these five programs ave as follows:

Approved and

Organization Proposals implemented  Knows resuits
Cormmunist PArtY US A . coierceinmummeroa o nesnias sunmmmmsmamnctann 1,850 1,388 222
Socjalist Workers Part; - 72 46 13
White Hate Groups. .. 404 289 139

AT { S 3sl 235 77
BIACK EXUTEIMISIS o oo cmicmrummsmc e ncnanamommm i Smmt b a et 540 362 76
k1| ISR SRS RE TS 3,247 2,378 527

With respect to the two ofher “COINTELPRO” programs, Special Operations
and Espionage or Soviet-Satellite Intelligence—both of which related to opera-
tions primarily targeted against hostile foreign intelligence services, foreign
organizations and individuals connected with them—no statisticy ave set forth in
this report. Because of the nature of these activities, aJl documents relating to
“mspionage or Soviet-Satellite Intelligence” ave classified Secret, and a very sub-
stantial part of the documents relating to “Special Operations” ave likewise
classified Secret. Publication of these stutistics would be inappropriate in terms
of the national security.
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L. Analysis of types of activity conducted under COINTELPRO domestic-based
prograns

Reports with respect to the five domestic based COINTRLPRO prograwms dis-
closed o close similarity in the types of activities condueted under each program.
In general, the activities common to all programs may be groupedl into approxi-
mately a dozen categories. As indicated above, the overwhelming bullk of these
activities were clearly legitimate and proper undertakings, within the scope of
the FRIs ongoing responsibilities, and are listed as HOOINTRLPRO™ activities
only beeause they were reported as such. They may be characterized as follows:

(1) Sending anonymous or fictitious muterials to members or groups.—"The
vast majority of these actions consisted of items of information designed to
create digsention and cause disruption within the varions groups, Of the total
number of actions implemented under all five domestic based programs,
approximately, 409 fell under this cafegory.

(2) Dissemination of pubdlic record information to mediac sources.—Actions
implemented under thig category consistetd primarily of making public source
maferial available to friendly media representatives for the purpose of using
stieh material in a newspaper, magazine, or radio or television program in order
to expose the aims and activities of the various groups. This type of activity
represented approximately 209% of all actions implemented under domestie
COINTELPRO efforts. It was implemented in some 360 instances in counection
with the Communist Party USA program; in six instanceyg in connection with
the Socialist Workers Party; in 26 instances in connection with Black 18x-
tremists; in 15 instances in connection with TWhite Hate Groups; and in 25
instances in connection with the New Left.

(8) Leuaking informant based on non-pudlic information to media sources—
Maost of the actions implemented in this category related to the leaking of in-
vestigative material to friendly media sources for the purpose of o:\'poéing ihe
nature, aims and membership of the various groups. There were no instances
of this type of activity in connection with the Socialist Workers Party program,
and relatively few in connection with the Communist Party USA and New Left
programs. Approximately one-seventh of the actions implemented under the
Plack Extremists program, and one-sixth of the actions implemented under the
White Hate Groups program fell under this category.

. (4) ddvising local, State and Federal authorities of civil and criminal viola-

tions by group members—This activity—totally legal—represented approxi-
mately 89 of the total number of actions implemented under all five domestic
based programs.
. (B) Use of informants o disrupt o group’s activitics.—Most of the actions
implemented under this category were for the purpose of using informants to
dgsrupt the activities of various groups by sowing dissention and exploiting
disputes, No statistics are available as to the number of instances of this type
of activity in connection with the Communist Party USA program, but it seems
that informants were used in this program to cause disruption but not as agents
provocateurs. This type of activity represented less than two percent of the
activities undertaken in comnnection with the four other domestic’ based
COINTELPRO programs.

(6) Informing employers, credit bureaus and creditors of members’ activities.—
The majority of actions implemented under this category consisted of notifying
eredit bureaus, creditors, employers and prospective employers of members’
illegnl, immoral, radical and Communist Party activities in order to affect
adversely their credit standing or employment status. No statisties ave available
as to the number of instances in which this type of activity was used in con-
nection with the Communist Party USA program, althiough the Bureau has
reported that it was vsed in a number of instances. It was used in only a small
number of instances in connection with the four other domestic hased
COINTELPRO programs, namely in one instance in connection with the Socialist
Workers Party, seven instances in connection with Black Extremists, 15 in-
stances in connection with White Hate Gronps, and 20 instances in connection
with the New ILeft, or a tota} of some 43 instances in all domestic based
COINTELPRO programs other (nan the Communist Party USA.

(7) Informing or contacting businesses and persons with whom nembers had
ceonomic dealings of menthers’ actviities~—~'fhe majarity of actions iinntemented
under this category consisted of notifying persons or businesses with whom
members had economic dealings of the members’ association with the various
groups involved for the purpose of adversely affecting their economie interests,

4372175 3 .
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No instances of this type of activity were reported in connection with the
Communist Party USA program, It was implemented in only one instance in
connection with the Socialist Workers Party program, in 62 instances in con-
nection with the Black Extremists, 14 instances in connection with the While
Hate Groups, and eight instances in connection with the New Left, or a total of
some 85 instuncees in all domestic based programs.

(8) Intervicwing or contucting members.—Ihis type of activity—again, totally
legal—was implemented in only a small number of instances for the purpose of
letting wembers know that the FBI was aware of their activity and also in an
attempt to develop them as informants. No instances of this type of activity were
reported in connection with the Communist Party USA, Socialists Workers Party

and Black Extremists programs, and in only eleven instances in connection with’

White Hate Groups and in one instance in conuection with the New Left. It
should he noted that many FBI field offices carried on this activity routinely
but - aid not attribute it to a counterintelligence function but rather to the routine
investigation of individuals or organizations.

(9) Attempting to use religlous and civil leaders and orgenizations in disruptive
aclivitics—"The majority of actions implemented under this category involved
furnishing information to civie and reiigious leaders and organizations in order
to guin their support and to persuade them to exert pressure on state and local
governments, employers and landlords to the detriment of the various groups. No
instances of this type of activity weve reported in connection with the Communist
Party USA program. It was used in only 2 instances in connection with the
Hocialist Workers Party program, in 36 instances in connection with Black
Bxtremists, in 13 instances in connection with White Hate Groups and in 10
instances in connection with the New Left, or a total of some 61 instances in
connection with all domestic baged programs.

(10 Activity related to political or judicial processes.—This type of activity
represents less than one half of one percent of all COINTELPRO activities—a
total of only 12 instances in connection with all five domestic based programs.

Although small in number, these 12 ingtances are among the most troubling
in all of the COINTELPRO efforts. Consequently, in the interest of full dis-
closure, they are described in detail as follows: tipping off the press that a
write-in candidate for Congress would be attending a group’s meeting at a specific
time and place; leaking information to the press that a group official was actively
campaigning for a person running for public office; furnishing the arrest and
conviction record of a4 member of & group who was candidate for a local public
office to a friendly newspaper which published the information; sending an
anonymous letter to a political candidate alerting him that a group’s members
were active in his campaign and asking that he not be a tool of the group; send-
ing an anonymous letter to a local school board official, purporting to be from
a concerned parent, alerting him that candidates for the school board were mem-
bers of a group: mailing an anonymous letter to a member of a group who was
a mayoralty candidate in order to create distrust toward his comrades; furnish-
ing background of a group who was a candidate for public office, including arrests
and questionable marital status, to news media contacts; furnishing public
gsource data on a group to a local grand jury chairman who had requested it in
connection with the grand jury's probe of the shooting of police by group mem-
bers; furnishing information concerning arrests of an individual to a court that
had earlier given this individual a suspended sentence and also furnishing this
same information to his einployer who later discharged the individual; making
an anonymous telephone call to a defense attorney, after a Federal prosecution
had resulted in a mistrial, advising him (apparently falsely) that one of the
defendants and another well known group individoal were IBI informants.

(11) Bstablishing sham organizations for disruptive purposes—This type of
activity was utilized only in connection with the White Hate Groups program
and was implemented in only five instances primarily for the purpose of using
the organizations to send out material intended to disrupt various such groups.

(12) Informing family or others of radical or immorael ectivity—The majority
of nctions implemented under this category involved the sending of anonymous
communications to family members or groups to which individuals belonged
advising them of immoral or radical activities on the part of various individuals.
These activities represent o little more than one percent of all COINTELPRO
activities—a total of some lhirty instances in all domestic-based programs. This
type of activity was reported to have been used infrequently in connection with
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the Communist Party USA program, and was not used in connection with the
Socialist Workers Party program. 1t was reported to have been used in tivelve
instances in connection with the Black Bxtremists program, in two instances in
connection with White Hate Groups, and in 18 instances in connection with the
New Left,

In addition to the above twelve categories, it was found that a small number
of miscellaneous actions, approximately 20 instances in all the domestic-based
programs, were implemented which did not fit in any specific category. Again,
it is appropriate in the interests of full disclosure that these activities be set
farth in detail, The most egregious examples of these miscellaneous types of
activity ave as follows: making arrangements for local aunthorities to stop two
group niembers on a narcotics pretext and by prearrangement having a police
radio operator indicate that another individual wanted them to call her with
purpose of having this individual come under suspicion as a police informer;
use of “eitizen band” radio, using the same frequency being used by demonstra-
tors, to provide disinformation; making telephone calls to parents of members
of a group advising them of the connection of their son with the group; or
advising the mother of a group leader that his actions would put him in danger;
forging of a group’s business card for informant purposes; reproducing a group
leader’s signature stamp; obtaining tax retwns of members of a group; repro-
ducing a group's recruiting cavd; and investigating the love life of a group leader
for dissemination to the press.

F. Foreign intelligence activities

Tywo programs in the area of foreign counterintelligence—*'Special Operations”
and “Rspionage” or “Soviet-Satellite Intelligence”—were implemented by the
BRI under “COINTELPRO.” The overall objective of each was to encourage
and stimulate a variety of counterintelligence efforts against hostile foreign
intelligence services, and, in the case of “Special Operations,” also against foreign
Communist organizations and individuals connected with them.

(1) Special operations—The title “Special Operations” does not designate a
program directed against a specific target. Rather, the title and the file on it
nre of a cantrol character, and the file contains copies of correspondence of, an
informative or coordinating nature relating to ongoing intelligence operations
and/or investigations primarily targeted against hostile foreign intelligence
services, foreign Communist organizations and individuals connected with them.
A very substantial part of this file is classified “Secret.” Although it is not appro-
priate to provide statisties as to the precise number of actions implemented under
this program, it can generally be stated to include approximately ten general
types of activity, suech asg operations involving travel of confidential informants
abroad ; extended utilization of cooperative individuals and informants abroad;
anonymous mailings for the purpose of disrupting activities of a suspected agent
of a foreign intelligence service; etc.

(2) Espionage or Noviet-sutellite intelligence—This program, although offi-
cially designated a COINTELPRO program, emphasized intelligence gathering
and counterintelligence efforts already being pursued in connection with the
Bureau's ongoing foreign intelligence responsibilities. It did not curtail any
activity or in any way change the scope of counterintelligence efforts already
in effect and continuing today. It was primarily intended to inspire initiative
and to encourage ingenuity in the Bureaw's continuing counterintelligence efforts
against hostile foreign intelligence services.

In the interest of the national security, no statistics or examples of the types
of actions implemented under this program may appropriately be disclosed.

Mr. Wrecins. Mr. Petersen, you led a team which investigated this
program; is that true?

Mr. Prrersex, Y es, sir.

Mr. Wregrns. Who were the members of your team ¢

Mr. Perrrsny. First of all, Mr. Kevin Marvoney, Deputy Assistant
Attorney General, Criminal Division ; Mr. Philip White, Staff Assist-
ant to me in the Criminal Division; 3{r. Michael Abbell, Staff Attor-
ney in the Criminal Division; Mr. John Martin, Staff Attorney in the
Criminal Division ; Inspector Thomas Smith of the Federal Bureau of
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Tnvestigation; Agent James Williamson, Federal Bureau of Investi-
oation, and Agent Edmund Pistey of the Federal Bureau of
Investigation.

Mr., Wicarxs. Is the report which is known as the Petersen report a
unanimous report of this committee? )

Mr. Prrersey. Yes, sir, it is  unanimous report of the committee as
such. The Bureau as an institution may have differing views.

Mr. Wicerys. With respect to what portions of the report?

Mr. Perersex. T am not aware. The report was submitted to M.
Kelley so that he might express those views to the Attorney General. I
have seen no formal expression of those views. ,

Mr, Wicarye, Mr, Kelley, do you coneur in the veport of the Petersen
committee ?

My, Kurney, There ave some matters digseussed which we thought
perhaps needed some adjustment, but overall we concur that it is a
faithtul recording of what appeared in the committee’s reviey.

Mr. Wiceixs, Mr. Petersen, did your task force examine all of the
individual files or did yon simply take random samples?

My, Prrersex. I think both, but perhaps I would explain the meth-
odology in some more detail.

First of all, for each field office that was engaged in a COINTEL
program there was a control file maintained in the Bureau headquarters
The three Bureau agents on the committee examined with whatever
assistance from other elements in the FBI that may have been neces-
sary—I don’t know there was any—all of those and summarized the
relevant information with respect to each agents activity taken under
the COINTEL program. Those summaries were then assigned to the
staff, attorneys on the committee ; white, hate groups, black extremists,
Communist Party USA, et cetera.

Based on those summaries the report was prepared.

Now, in order to assure the validity of those summaries, the attor-
neys in the Criminal Division and only attorneys in the Criminal Divi-
sion, took 20 percent sampling of the original files and compared them
to the summary to ensure accuracy and invariably they were an accu-
rate summary of the raw files.

Mr. Wicerxs. It is my understanding that this activity was com-
menced some years ago at the direction of Director Hoover, is that
a correct statement ?

Mr. PrrERSEN. Yes, sir, that is what the file reflects,

Mr. Wigerxs. Can you tell us whether there was at that time statu-
tory authority for the conduct of such programs?

Mr. Perersex. I am not aware of any statutory authority for the
exercise of this responsibility. Whatever authority exists would have
been said to be implicit in the discharge of other duties and that is a
very questionable area.

Mr. Wiecins. There is not, as I understand it, a statutory prohibi-
tion against countevintelligence activities per se, but rather only
against specific activities which might fall nnder that heading. Is that
a fair statement, My, Petersen ?

M. Smsernax. May I respond to that?

One of the difficilties n analyzing what is veferred to as
COINTELPRO is that there ave a number of activities within
COINTELPRO which fall clearly within the authority of the Bureau
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under Executive orders and statutes; and, of course, there are some
activities which the Attorney General has already indicated he be-
lieves to be inappropriate. |

It seems to me that it might help to a certain extent to distinguish
Letween those activities which, for instance, are clearly within the
authority of any law enforcement agency and those which may exceed
that anthority.

Mr. Epwaros. The committee is operating under ITouse rules, under
the 5-minute rule.

Mr. Waldie.

My, Warnie. I ask this to any one of you who might provide the
answer, '

I am examining the report itself and on pages 11 and 12 one of the
tactics was the leaking of information based on nonpublic information
to friendly media sources, and then you break down the number of
times this tactic was used,

On page 12 you specify it was used 360 instances in connection with
the Communist Party program, 6 instances Social Worker's Party, 26
instances black extremists, 15, white hate and 25 new left.

So I presume from the accuracy of those references that this is
ample documentation as to whom the allegations were made, as to the
identity of the friendly media sources. Is that a correct assumption?

Mr. Smerraran. Congressman Waldie, I think you ave referring to
dissemination of public record information to mecia contacts.

Mr. Wawnie, Well, T am in the first instance.

Mr. SrLsERILAN. Yes.

Mr. Warpmz. And that was disseminated only to friendly media
representatives, according to the report, and I presume that it 1s amply
documented whom you construed to be “A. friendly media representa-
tive” that is important for me to know, that you make a designation
among the media of America as to whom is friendly and by exclusion
you defined the rest as unfriendly.

Mr. Spperaax. First of all, Mr. Waldie, let me make perfectly
clear to you.

Mr. Wazpie. Please, not that word.

Mr. Smserymax. I beg your pardon.

Mrv. Warps. Please go ahead, I am sorry.

Mr. Streeraray. This is not o present assertion.

My, Warpe. T understand that.

Mr. Sreperaran. You were saying it as if it were the present tense.

Mr. Warome. T understand that. T will make that judegment when
we have concluded this hearing. Part of my concern is to be satisfied
that it is not a present intention of the Federal Buveau of Investiga-
tion. T amnot at this stage of these proceedings so persuaded.

Now, to respond to my question, will you provide me with the list
of the friendly media to whom public information was disseminated?

Mr. Smnerarax. T am not sure that is appropriate.

My, Warpre. That is not really for you to make this determination.
1f you can tell me that you will not, then we can talke the steps that
we are permitted to use. My question to you is will you provide me
with that information?

Mr. Srrnerarax. You mean the list of media sources—-

AMr. Warpie. The list of friendly——
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Mr., Smaeraax [continuing]. To whom the Federal Burcan of
Investigation between 1956

Mr, Warpie. That is not what I am asking. Listen carefully to my
question. Refer to page 11 of the Petersen report, subparagraph 2,
Iine 3, the phrase friendly media representatives; page 11, where you
are discussing to whom you disseminated public record information;
and then on page 12, top paragraph, you enumerate specifically the
instances in great detail in whieh that oceurred.

I presume, thevefore, you have ample information as to the friendiy
media in those instances to whom the information was disseminated,

M. Smmeeratax. First of «11, the Justice Department does not at this
stage, at this time distinguish between friendly and unfriendly media.
We have no such distinetion and we have no such operating instroe-
tions nor do we have any such policy.

If your question is the identity of newspapermen

Mr. Warpis. That is not my question. Listen to my question. I want
to know in the 560 instances referred to on page 12, in conneetion with
the Communist Party program, in the ¢ instances in connection with
the Socialist Worker's Party, and you can conclude the rest of that
paragraph, T want to know in each of those specific instances the media
to whom the information was released.

Mv. Smeratay. T am not suve but that wouldn’t involve the exposure
of newspapermen in a fashion which might well raise first amendment
questions.

Mr. Warnm. It raises a great number of first amendment questions
but thev are adverse to the Government and that is what T want to
know. The Government has no business determining which of its media
are friendly.

My, Superaray. I absolutely agree with you.

My, Warpie. Then would you agree with me that you would find no
ohjection. I wonld think, in providing me with the information as to
why such a policy was adopted at one time, in your Department.

AMr. Sryrserarax., Well, T wasn't there, this was back in 1956, through
the 1960’s, Congressman Waldie. I deplore the concept of distinguish-
ing between friendly and unfriendly media.

Mr. Warpre. Can you just simply tell me—-

Mr, Smerryay. Your question is can we identify those reporters
to whom the allegations were made?

Mr. Warpre. I didn’t know they were reporters. I want to know
the media representatives. Will you provide that to me?

Mr. Smseraran. I am not certain. I would like to consult with the
Attorney General about that. That may raise some questions that
this committee would be equally concerned about—such as the iden-
tification of newsmen in the process of their news gathering activity.
We are particularly sensitive in the Justice Department about this
and have adopted a number of policies which prevent governmental
power being imposed upon newsmen in such a fashion as to chill their
fivst amendment free press vights.

Mr, Waznre. My time is up. I will come back to you.

Mr, Epwaros. Mr. McClory.

Mr. McCrory. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

First of all T want to comment on your earlier statement, Mr. Sil-
berman, particularly with regard to your suggestion as to where you
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think the jurisdiction for FBI oversight ought to be, and T want to
assert quite affirmatively and with some jealous feelings of the pre-
rogatives of this committee that the oversight jurisdiction belongs
right here in this subcommittee, and I think we have been sidetracked
or we have been overlooked insofar as recognizing what our preroga-
tives are.

Mpr. Smuerrmaxn. May I respond just briefly, Congressman McClory,
to say that the Attorney General received a letter November 14 which
in turn refers to an earlier letter of October 23 from Congressman
Kastenmeier, chairman of the Subcommittee on Courts, Civil Liber-
ties and Administration of Justice in which the very naturve of his
inquiry asserts the same jurisdictional “oversight” rights, Tt is obvi-
ously not up to us to make a determination as to which subcommittee
or committee of the Congress has jurisdietion. All that we ask is that
the chairman make clear which committee has jurisdiction.

Mr. MceCrory, Well, you are only being subjected to inquiries now
by one subcommittee of the House Judiciary Committee, I assume.

Mr, Smeeraan. We only get it one at a time, if that is what you
mean.

Mr. McCrory. Now, I have vead the Dirvector’s statement with
regard to the report which was made public in response to pressures
which I judge came from the chairman and from this committee with
regard to these counterintelligence activities. I think it would he
extremely important for us to know of these earlier days—that we are
not experiencing now, of course—and who these revolutionary forces
were, these elements that were engaged in conspiracies and the poten-
tially deadly agents which we were guarding against. Because while
T recall highly offensive conduct and large.scale demonstrations right
here in the Capitol, I am not aware myself of the revolutionary lead-
ers or activities or the threats of killings and maimings which we
were guarding against; and it is that kind of information which it
seems to me that we should know about if we are going to either
countenance a continuation of this activity or we are going to direct
that it be discontinued.

I assume that would not be the kind of information that you would
want to identify here in a public, open hearing by using names and
identifying individuals who were involved in that sort of thing, or
the names of individuals who were engaged in counterintelligence
activities to try to protect our citizens, as you say, is that correct?

Mr. Stuserarax. To whom are you addressing that question?

Mr. McCrory, To whomever is the spokesman you have on the panel.

Mr. Srweernran, I am sorry, Congressman Mce(Jory, I thought for a
moment you were addressing it to Director Kelley.

Let me first address the earlier part of your premise. The Attorney
General has always expressed a desive to make this report public and
indeed discussed that with the Senate FBI Oversight subcommittee
many months ago. It is not so that it is public only because the chair-
nan of this committee wished it to be made public.

Now with respect to the other part of your question, you are ab-
solutely right that the disclosure in an open heaving of certain of the
instaneces to which Divector Kelley referred to in this statement would
not serve the interest of either the Congress ov the executive branch.




20

Mr. McCrory. Some of these activities which we regard as offensive
and which ave covered in the report or the study ave said to have been
conducted at the request of Members of Congress. .

Can you identify the Members of Congress who urged activities that
are being questioned and scrutinized at this time?

Mr. Sieeraraw. I think you are referring to Director Kelley's state-
ment, are you not, Congressman McClory, rather than the report?

M. McCrory. I am not sure.

Mr. Prrersew. The report does not say that.

Mr. Sirseraran. The report does not say that?

Mr. McCrory, It isin the press release.

My. Smeeraan. You mean Divector Kelley's press release?

Mr. McCrory. Well, are you familiar with that and could you
identify the Members of Congress for us?

Mr. Stseraran. I certainly could not identify them and I would
have to defer to Divector Kelley on that question.

My, Kerrey, There were in some instances members of the Appro-
priations Conumnittee before whom Mr. ¥oover testified on TBI appro-
priations. T cannot identify them at this point.

Mr. MeCrory. Thank you.

Mr. Smeersran. We did know that much of that testimony before
the Appropriations Committee was designated “off the record.”

M. McCrory. I think my time is up.

Mr. Epwarns., Mr. Sarbanes.

Mr. Sarnaxes. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. o

My, Strseraray. I want to make one comment on thig jurisdictional
point which I raised. Mr. Wiggins and I were members of a select
committee that spent well over 1 year studying the jurisdictional
questions in the House of Representatives. I think we probably ree-
ognize the complexities connected with it. But T only suggest to you
that if the House chose to, and its committees chose to, any number
of subcommittees or committees could assert jurisdiction with respect
to oversight connected to the FBY, if it fell within the purview of their
responsibility, The Judiciary Committee is organized not on an agency
basis or on a departmental basis, but is organized more on a functional
basis in terms of subject matter that comes before the committee. The
fact that two subcommittees of this committee have felt it necessary
to inquire of the FBI with respect to certain matters may only reflect
that they are carrying forth their responsibilities that are assigned to
them. I can understand that the Department and the Bureaun secks
some arrangement to which they can easily relate and I take it that
vou made that remark only as a suggestion of what would be con-
venient for vou. But I just want to make it very clear that the way we
do our business is for us to arrange and that a functional arrange-
ment shich may make a lot of sense from our point of view may well
be the appropriate one even though it may make things somewhat
inconvenient or repetitious for the Burean or for the Department.

Mr. Smserarax. It was not convenience that T was concerned abont,
Congressman Sarbanes, but a much more important matter. The
Attorney General and I feel very strongly that the Congress should
exercise appropriate oversight jurisdiction over the Burean and indeed
over the Department, but particularly over the Bureau.
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Mouch of the matters that the Bureau ave engaged in are extraordi-
narily sensitive, particularly in the counterintelligence field. I don’t
mean counterintelligence in terms of COINTELPRO, I mean counter-
intelligence in its classic sense. Those matters are in many cases classi-
fied at the highest classifications. I only thought that both the Con-
gress and the executive branch would share a desire to minimize the
number of people who would have access to this information so that
we could do all that we could to preserve its integrity and at the same
time make certain that the Congress can and does exercise its ap-
propriate oversight funetions.

Mr. Sarsanzs. We want to preserve the integrity of the material.
We also want to maximize the oversight, and I think that is veally for
us to decide how to go about that.

Mr. Siseraan. It is only a suggestion that we have been making.

Mr. Sarsanes. I appreciate that.

Mr. Petersen, in this report that Mr. Wiggins has placed into
the record, upon presentation by Mr. Silberman, headed FBI
COINTELPRO activities dated November 18, 1974, a document 21
pages in length, I don’t know how to refer to it, I guess the Petersen
report or the complete report of the group which you headed whose
members you enumerated eavlier in the hearing.

Mr. Perersen. That is a truncated version of the report of the
committee.

M. Sarsaxes. Well how truncated isit?

Mzr. Prrersexn, T think aur report was about 39 pages. This is about
21 or something like that.

Mr, Sarsanzs. In other words, this is about half of the report that
was submitted by you to whom?

Mr, Perersex, To the Attorney General.

Mz, Sarsanes, To the Attorney General.

Well, who prepared this report?

Mr. Prrersex, It was prepared by the staff of the Attorney General.

Mr. Sarsawes. Does Mr. Silberman know the answer to that
guestion ?

Mz, Smeerman. Yes; a number of us worked on that. There were
certaln matters in the Petersen report which concerned national
security matters. There were also a number of other matters relating
to the philosophical framework in which this would be examined as
well as certain other procedural and other matters which have nothing
to do with the facts of COINTELPRO. I understand that everything
that was factual about the COINTEL programs is in this report.

Mr., Sarsanes. Well, let me get this very clear. '

Mr. Smraeruan. All factual matters about the domestic COINTEL-
PRO were included with the exception of one matter. One sentence was
deleted because it was determined that it might well expose an inform-
ant who would be in personal danger., ,

Mr. SaranEs. Mr. Petersen, when were you charged with making
this study? ' .

Mr. Prrersex. I really don’t remember the date. It was earlier done,
as I recall, by the Attorney General in January of this year.

Mr. Sarpanes. When-did you submit the 89 page Petersen report to
the Attorney General? :

43-721—75—4
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Mr. Perersey. Approximately the third week in May.

My, Sarsanzs. Third week of May of this year?

Mr, PererszN. Yes, sir.

Mr. Sarsanzs. Then it is not really accurate then to refer to this
document as the Petersen report. This is, in effect, an edited and
rewritten summary or modification of thr, Petersen report prepared
by the Attorney General’s office; is that not correct?

My, Prrersen. That is correct.

Mr. Sarsawzs. Well my time is up, I will come back to you, I as-
sume later.

Mr. Epwarps. Mr. Butler, :

Mor, Bureer. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I would address my question to, I assume, Mr. Petersen, but since
you are the one, the authority—-

Mr. Prrersen. We are wifling to share, Congressman.

Mr. Burrer. Thank you.

With reference to Mr. Saxbe’s statement of November 18 at the
news conference, on page 2, “The Committee found that 8,247 counter-
intelligence proposals were submitted of which 2,870 were alz)proved”.

To whom were these proposals submitted and by whom?

Mr. PrrerseN. Those proposals came into the national headquarters
of the Federal Bureau of Investigation and were approved generally
at the Assistant Director level and in some instances at the level of the
Director of the Federal Bureaun of Investigation.

Mr. Burrer. Well, I am not sure in my own mind what the levels
of authority are but there is one Director of the Federal Bureau——

M. Perersen. Pardon ?

Mr. Borrer. There is one Director ?

My, Prrersen. Yes, sir.

Myr. Burrer. How many Assistant Directors?

Mr. Prrersex. I don’t know how many Assistant Directors. Basically
there is an Assistant Director in charge of the General Investigative
Division and Internal Security Division. Mr, Kelley can give you
more specifics,

Mr. BurLer. What I am trying to determine in my own mind is how
fragmented was the authority for approval of these counterintelli-
gence proposals.

Mr. Perersen. I don’t think it was very fragmented at all. Tt went
to the two major operating divisions, the Internal Security Division
or the General Investigative Division, and thence on up to the Director.

Mr. ButLer. Sois it a reasonable assumption that the Director or two
Assistant Directors made the ultimate determination in these instances
as to whether they were approved or not ?

Mr. Prrersen. That is right.

Mr. Burrer. Were any policy criteria spread out on the record or in
the ﬁile as to what would ]l?)e approved and what would not, or was it
purely

Mr. PrrersExN. It was purely ad hoe. I don’t think we came across any
broad policy statement—-—

Mr. Boreer, Even in directing assistance? ,

Mr. Perersen. That is right. It took its genesis from some of the pure
intelligence programs of the Federal Bureau of Investigation and the
standards were apparently known to the officials of the Bureau in con-
junction with their performance of duties in that regard.
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Mr, Burter. Well, let us go further, then, Of those procedures
which were approved, either by the Director or the Assistant Director,
how many were communicated upward? I am referring to the state-
mont of Mr. Kelley on November 18: I want to assure you that Director
Hoover did not conceal from superior authorities the fact that the FBI
was engaging in neutralizing disruptive tactics. )

Mr. Prrersen. We are talking about now approval in the Depart-
ment of Justice.

Mr. Burtrer, Yes; the extent to which the Director of the FBI ad-
vised the Attorney General of the United States of this. )

Mr. Prrrrsen. Well, I think there may be some differences of view-
paint between me at least and the Qﬂicials of the Fedgral Bureau of
Investigation on this score. This initial report prepared stated that we
found no evidence in the Cointel control files to indicate that anyone
outside of the Federal Burcau of Investigation in the Department of
Justice knew about this program or its implementation and that was
corroborated by oral advices of officials of the Bureau. Generally,
within the past week Mr. Kelley and his staff have advised that some
aspects of this program were communicated to a number of Attorneys
General. o )

Mr. Burner. At this point may I direct some questions to Mr.
Kelley. T am, of course, referring to yvour statement and T want to
recognize that you were not there then and I was not here then so we
are perfectly pure in both instances and we can proceed with total
objectivity. ) )

But you did state on November 18 that Director Ioover did not
counceal and then, for example in a communication concerning revo-
lutionary organizations he sent to the then Attorney (veneral and the
White FHouse on May 8, 1956, and so forth qn page 8 of your statement.
Tave you checked somewhere a list of the instances whether oral or
written in which the Director of FBI communicated this upward?

Mr. Kerrey. Yes, siv, )

Mr. Burter. Would you feel that it would violate any confidence
to pass that information on to this committee?

Mr. Keriey., We referred all of these to the Attorney General by
written communications. As to the question on confidence I would
like to defer to Mr. Silberman.

Mr. Buruer. Well, Mr. Chairman, Mr. Silberman. )

Mr. Smeeraan. Congressman, that is a troubling question.

Mr, Burner. Just a moment. Mr. Chairman, I move that we go
into executive session for the purpose of responding to this question
at this moment.

Mr. Eowaros. Perhaps it would be a good idea first to see if in
executive session we would get a response.

Mr. Borrer. All right. ‘

Mr. Stmeerman. I would not be prepared to give in open session
copies of correspondence from the Bureau to the Attorney General
which referved to this program or gctivities under this program be-
cause, T hasten to add, T havve reviewed all of that and no Attorney Goen-
aral was ever given the full scope of these prograis. But it is correct
from the information.which' the Bureaun has provided us in the last
couple of weeks that Attorneys Genetal were aware of certain aspects
of the program, particularly certain targets. My view on that is that we
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would be prepared to make that available to the committee subject,
however, to excising any references in those reports that would dis-
close any confidential informants or endanger anybody’s life. One of
the things we are always concerned about is endangering the life of
an informant within any of these groups and I think you agree 1t
would be appropriate to make that editing change.

Mr. Burter. My time is up and I thank the gentleman. I withdraw
the motion, if it is appropriate.

My, Epwarps. Mr. Drinan.

Mr. Drivan. In the report, on page 14, there is noted a very shock-
ing and degrading thing that the ¥BI went to various citizens and
to'd them about the alleged extremists with whom they had economic
dealings and it’s also noted in 62 instances so-called black extremists
were damaged in their economie relationship.

Does the Department of Justice have any intention of informing
these 62 individuals, without informing others, that they in fact were
spied upon, that their economic dealings with certain other citizens
were deteriorated because of the alleged radicalism that was communi-
cated to those with whom they had commercial relationships?

Mr. Smeerman. Congressman Drinan, we will respond under the
Freedom of Information Act as we have already done so.

Mr. Drivan. These 62 people have never heard of this report. I
didn’t hear of it until 2 days ago. These 62 so-called black extremists
have no way of knowing that their economic life was seriously dam-
aged by the FB3T.

Mr, Smerrvaxn, Well, first of all, let me say to you, Congressman
Drinan, the Attorney General and I find that conduct——

Mr. Drinax. Would you respond to the question. What are you
going to do about the 62 black extremists, American citizens of African
ancestry ? ‘

Mr. Siuseraran. Mr. Chairman, could I have permission to respond
to one question at a time ?

Mr. Eowaros. I am sure Congressman Drinan will allow you.

My, Drivaw. I want a response.

Mr. Smsrrman. I would just like a chance to finish my answer.

I want to make it very clear to this committee that the Attorney
General and I deplore this particular action, we do not sanction it,
we believe it to he wholly inappropriate, and we have already made
the determination with respect to certain requests that have been made
by individuals who do know about this to reply under the Freedom of
Information Act to any requests made by individuals against whom
conduct was taken of this nature, and which is not within an investiga-
tory file. That is to say, improper active or positive or negative conduct
which was taken as against these individuals.

Mr. Drivan., Well, I repeat my question, which hasn’t been an-
swered, do you have any intention-of informing these 62 American citi-
zens who are black; that they were spied upon and that people with
whom they had commercial relationships were told about their alleged
radicalism and presumably these 62 black citizens were hurt ?

Mr. Siuseraan. Well, I would like to take your suggestion, Con-
gressman Drinan, up with the Attorney General. -

GMr. BRINAN. When will we have an answer from the Attorney
eneral?

I N i i kv e oo <
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Mr. Strserorax. As soon as T have a chance to take it up with him.

Mr. Drixay. Can we have it in 72 hours? That is my request.

Mr. SirpEryMAN. Your request is duly noted.

Mr. Drixax. I have another point on page 15, that the T BI stooped
to have religious leaders go to various landlords and tell the land-
lords about the alleged radicalism once again of 36 black extremists
and the landlords were informed to the detriment of these various
groups.

Mr. SiznermAN. Which page? o ‘

Mr. Drrxax. Did you inform anybody who the religious leaders
were who were used in this way ? )

Mr. SzeEraran. Which page are you referring to?

Mr. Drivan. Page 15. i

Mr. SiseErMAN. Your question was would we inform you of those

‘religious leaders?

Mr. Drixaxy. Would you tell the 34 black extremists that religious
and civic leaders were used and manipulated by the FBI to go to the
landlords of these black extremists to presumably have them evicted
ov raise the rents or somehow cause them damage? )

Mr. SiLeErRyMAN. You mean identify to the black extremists who the
religious leaders are? )

Mr. Drivax. Yes: they have a vight to know. It is the same question
put in a different way that now you have used American citizens, not
FBI agents,

Mr. Srseraan. I didn’t use anybody, Congressman, and I really
resent your use of that pronoun. ) )

Mr. Drixax. T am sorry. The FBI before you were associated with
it. Mr. Silberman, used American citizens to cause damage to 36 black
Americans, and T am simply saying they have a right to know what
has transpived in their life. '

Mr. StueerMAN. We will take that matter under consideration too.

Mr. Drixan. On page 19 there is evidence of, it seems to me, obvi-
ously criminal activities on the part of FBI agents, and I cite on page
19 some of the things that were done at least in 20 instances that are
noted here; that FBT agents forged a group’s business card; they re-
produced a group leader’s signature stamp; and, they obtained tax
returns of members of a group.

Does the Department of Justice have any intention of seeking out
the TBI agents who engaged in this criminal conduct and bringing
disciplinary or criminal action against them?

Mr. SuBrrMAN. Fxcuse me a moment. There is one point that you
mentioned I would like to ask Mr. Petersen about.

There is one qualification with respect to the tax return incident.
Mr. Petersen informs me that that tax return may well have come to
the Department or to the Bureau in the course of a legitimate inquiry,
a legitimate law enforcement activity.

TWhat was the rest of vour question?

Mr. Drrvax. Does the FBT, does the Department of Justice have any
intention of bringing disciplinary or criminal action against the FBI
agents who forged a group’s business card or who reproduced & group
leader’s signature stamp?
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Mr. Sizeerman. Well, we got a recommendation fromn Mr. Petersen
that none of the matters that fell within this report should be crim-
inally prosecuted.

Mr, Drixax, Why?

Mr. SieErmax, I vefer that question to Mr. Petersen.

Mr. Drixan. My 5 minutes are up.

Mr. Chairman, if it is agreeable, Mr. Petersen can answer why the
activity, limited only to the activity that I have mentioned, on page
19 are not crimes. Perhaps he could tell us why forging and repro-
ducing signature stamps are not crimes. )

Mr. Prrensex. First, T want to make it clear, Mr. Drinan. I didn’t
say those were not crimes. What I did suggest. that since this pro-
gram terminated in 1971, and since the possible violations would

relate to alleged violations of statutory constitutional rights, which is_

really a very murky area of the law and subject to great change over
the period of time this program was in existence, and it is far from
elear now, and thivd, beeause this was a program not of corruption,
it is clear that there was no personal aggrandisement or personal en-
richment involved on the part of the individual agents, and finally
heeause it was a program that was directed by the Director of the
TFederal Burean of Investigation, that it would be somewhat incon-
gruous to single out those few instances that are perhaps all under
the statute of limitation and single ow’ relatively few individuals for
criminal prosecution for following the orders of their superiors.

My suggestion was that the country would be better served, the
people first of all, the Government, by the institution of safeguards
to see that this didn’t happen again than by the prosecution of indi-
vidual agents for the conduct here involved.

Mr. Drivax. Mr. Chairman, may I ask Mr. Silberman, to answer
the oﬂ;er part of my question, is any disciplinary action contem-

Jated ?
P Mr. Sopermaw. I think the rationale which Mr. Petersen set out
suggests that if discipline were to be meted out it would have to be
meted out to one who is no longer alive. But we have the entire matter
under further review. We do not intend, however, to discipline agents,
those few agents, involving some instances, for actions which indeed
the entire Bureau and the Director were responsible.

Mr, Drinvax. I don’t think you want to live by that principle. I
vield back.

Mr. Epwarps, Mr. Rangel.

Mr. Raxeen. Thank you, Mr. Chairman,

Mzr. Petersen, I didn’t fully understand your answer because an
analogy as to whether or not——

Mr. Prrersen. Mr. Rangel

Mr. Raxger. Because somebody has initiated a conspiracy the fact
that, other people are involved and received orders, if that was true
we would not have the Watergate trials going on now.

Mr. Prrersen. I am sorry I wasn’t clear, Congressman. But with
all deference may I suggest if someone initiates a conspiracy I agree
with yvou wholehenrtedlv. My proposition is that, first, that we ought
to be trying to correct what happened.

Mr. Raxcen, We should do that in our Government at all levels.

Mr. PerersEN. Second, it seems to me to be most inequitable to single
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out the grade 10 agent on the street level for doing what he was directed
to do by the Director of the Federal Bureau of Investigation.

Mr. Raxgrr. That is what Mr. Haldeman is saying.

Mr. Perersex. Well T submit that there is a difference.

Third, I think that the individual actions have to be analyzed.

Iyrant to make one thing clear. This report, so-called Petersen report
and its 39 pages, is not a prosecutive memorandum. It is not a study of
a potential conspiracy. It was undertaken to investigate for the At-
torney General and Director ICelley, because neither one of them knew
what went on under that program. It doesn’t purport to be a definitive
statement with respect to the wisdom or not of criminal prosecution.

Mr. Raxaen. Obviously.

Mr. Perersex. It was the suggestion of the committee that it might
be inappropriate to initiate criminal prosecution.

Mr. Rangen. What committec ?

Mr. Perersex. The committee that looked at the COINTLEL pro-
gram. It might be inappropriate to initiate criminal prosecution for
the reasons that I have just stated. The question first of all has to be
determined whether there is a violation of the law, the question—

Mr. Ranarn. That is the problem.

Mr. Perersen. It has not been finally determined.

Mr. StreERMAN. Let me respond at this point.

Mr. Ranerrn, Ihad a question I would like to ask Mr. Silberman and
T am more limited in my time than you are with yours.

Certainly you are very sensitive to these wrongdoings or inappro-
priate action being attributed to you as a person. What bothers me is
that we are dealing with a press release that wasissued by the Attorney
General. T have no idea the extent of the investigation that might be in
the so-called Petersen report or what was deleted from this report and
put into the release which I assume every newspaper person in the
country has available to them as a part of the public record.

In order for us to have a better understanding of the problems. T
just hate to believe just because Mr. Foover died, it is still not the TBT.
But without any lack of respect to you, I would hate to believe that the
IBI would not want to share with us the problems that they had
faced at some time in their career, so we have a better understanding as
to what the Congress can do to help. But I am stuck here with a press
release that is very sensitive to present members of the Bureau and I
assume the Department, and I would want to know why can’t we have
at Jeast the so-called Petersen report?

Mzr. Stuserman. The Petersen report does not add any facts with re-
spect to these five COINTEL programs.

Mr. Raxcen. Would the Petersen report tell me what criteria were
used for extremists?

Mr. StzserMAN. No.

Mr. Rawcen. White hate groups—-

Mr. StueeErMAN. No, sir.

Mr. PererseN. No.

Mr. Ranern. Would the Petersen report tell me 20 percent of what
was available?

Mr. Prrersex. Twenty percent of the raw files of the Bureau to de-
termine that the summaries which are really——

Mzr. Raxern. Of all of the files or just the COINTEL?
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Mr. Prrersey. COINTEL control files, not all of the files of the
Bureau. We won't be able to do

Mr. Raxcer. How can I find out when you talk about known results
only in 22 percent, what happened to the other 78 percent. Where
would I go, that is not in your report either.

Mr. Perersen. When we say the known results that is what the file
reflected. The others were either not acted on or turned down or no re-
ports made. The latter, noting the Bureau agents propensity I should
say to get credit for program activities, we feel is a small margin of
CTTOY.

Mr. Raxerrn. When yvou say that it is to disrupt and organize or that
is antl-Amervican or antinational security, does that disruption, could
it lead to the assassination of the individual involved, would that be
in any

Mor, Prrursexn. No, sir.

Mr. Raxerrn. You are protecting your informers and somebody would
leak out information as to whom they might suspect as their informer,
whether that information is true or not, would not these so-called
violent groups be prone to destroy the lives of some of these people.

Mr. Prrersen. We came across nothing to suggest that. I especially
asked that question in connection with some of the more violent-prone
organizations and obviously the answer was “no.”

Mr. Raneer. What is the Attorney General prepared to give us be-
sides the press release so we would know what the problems are with
this conduct which obviously was deployed by all people around
today?

Mr. Smeerman. I am not sure I know what it is that you need,
Congressman.

Mr. Rancern. I would like to know really who these organizations are
and some of the names. It is tragic, I have been described as an ex-
tremist by some people, but I don’t know what the FBI language was
in the late 1950’s or the 1960’s. I understand that some of the civil rights
leaders that ave dead were subject to this type of investigation. Maybe
perhaps they still ave, I don’t know.

Mr. Sieeryan. They ave not. They are not now.

Mr. Ravceern. Maybe some of them should be. Because I may be using
civil rights in a term which has nothing to d¢ with civil rights. So I
have to know who the people are and what was being done and I am
restricted to this release.

My only question is. is there some report you ave prepared to malke
available to the committee beside the press release?

Mr. Sizeeraran. The chairman, as he started this hearing made it
very clear what the ground rules were. As I understand his position,
you were not going to go into the names of individuals or groups.

Mr. Raxern. I am not going into anything, Mr. Silberman, I asked
whether or not your agency or the Department has any additional
information you would be prepared to give to this committee. I am
not asking for the names verbally, I assume that there are other re-
ports that you sincevely believe would give us a better feel for what
we ave talking about.

Mr. SmeErMaAN. No, I really don’t think there is any report we have
that would give you any better feel whatsoever for what went on other
than what you have.
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Mr. Raxeer. You think this release should be sufficient in order to
guide us?

My, Siuserarax. There is nothing we have, there are no reports that
we have, which go into any factual data in excess of what you have.

Mr. Ravern. Obviously the six people on the panel had to know
who was being investigated.

Mr. Smprryan. Oh, yes. There are a number of raw files.

Mr. Raxcrr. I am not asking for these names at an open hearing.
Would your Department have any objections if this committee was
able to review the names of the organizations that at some period
in the history of the FBI they felt it was necessary to destroy ?

Mr. SmeeErMaN. Necessary to destroy?

Mr. Raween. That is your language, disrupt, destroy?

Mr. Sweeraan. Well, we may well be able in executive session to
go into the names of those groups which were targeted. I think this
committee has a legitimate reason for knowing that.

Mr. Raween. Thank you. What vehicle would you suggest that
would not do violence to your rules of confidence and protection.

Mr. Smsermax. I think the execcutive session might be a useful
vehicle to do that. I firmly believe that this committee should know
the names of those groups against which this conduct was directed.
There are, after all, the rights of those members of the group who
would feel defamed if the group itself were described. So I am quite
anxious to accommodate you in that respect.

Mr. Raxcern. But the level of conduct that we are talking about has
never reached a point of being above and appropriate. There was no
criminal conduct that you saw Mr. Petersen, as you conducted your
preliminary report on the parts of agents.

Mr. PrrerseN. That is, well let me put’it another way, Congress-
man. The report adds a number of exhibits, two of which arc legal
memoranda.

One which suggests that there is a little likelihood of criminal
prosecution and the other frankly a minority view, would suggest that
there may be a possibility of criminal prosecution.

Now, the two memoranda were submitted not because the committee
was trying to carry water on both shoulders but because the com-
mittee was attempting to advise Director XKelley and the Attorney
General of the nature of the problems involved and we thought we
ought to point out to him that while we as a committee thought that
criminal prosecution may be inappropriate we had to concede that
one may be able to fashion a potential eriminal case.

Mr. Epwarps. Time has expired.

My, SteeeErmaN. Therefore the Attorney General ought to be aware
of both those points of view.

Mr. Epwarps. At least one nonviolent civil rights organization,
by the FBI to disrupt organizations demonstrating against, for ex-
ample, the Vietnam war?

Mz, Prrersen. I am not sure of the specific nature of the demon-
strations. I just can’t answer that. It is conceivable that some of these
groups have been demonstrating against some in favor of it, because
the activities were directed at a broad span from far right to far left
from the Klu Klux Klan
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Mr. Epwarps. Some in the middle, too, thinking of the viganiza-
tion you mentioned at the press conference?

Mr. Perersen. I don’t know what middle means but there are vary-
ing degrees.

Mr. Epwarps. At least one nonviolent civil rights organization,
that is correct?

Mr. SmerrMAN. You are absolutely right but we don’t know that
in that case whether the direction wasn’t so much against that group
but rather dirvected against another group derivatively.

Mr. Prrersen. Or an individual.

Mr. Epwarps. Do you have any evidence that the FBI was in opera-
tion with this program at any political conventions such as the 1968
Democratic Convention in Chicago?

My, Prrersen. No, sir. We saw no evidence of that.

Mr. Epwarps. Mr, Kelley, in your release of November 18 you ex-
pressed considerable approval of the program. Do you still feel that
way and do you feel that there should be this type of program within
the FBT?

Mr. Krrrey, My statement was that I.felt that the Director and
the members of the Bureau who participated in the program felt sin-
cerely they were doing something for the betterment of the security
of the Nation. I found no evidence in the review that T made that the
intent was other than that.

Now, it may well be that critics will say this is not true becanse some
things were done which were described as very reprehensible.

- It will be up to those officials and authorities who review these
matters to determine if the incidents described are subject to any
criminal prosecution. This would involve the question of intent, of
course,

Mr. Epwarps. Can you think of any of the areas described in the
Petersen report that you believe were appropriate for the FBI to
engage in?

Mr. Keniey. Yes, sir, I can think of a number of appropriate things
that were done, and it is agreed by the Department and the committee
that o number of things were done which were appropriate under the
circumstances.

Mr. Epwarps. For example, Mr. Kelley, for example

Mr. Keriey. I would refer that to Mr. Petersen who made the
appraisal.

Mr. Prrersen. I think we are talking about some of the areas
dirccted at foreign intelligence activities.

Mr. Epwarps. I don’t believe we will pursue it at this moment. ver-
haps at a later date.

Mr. Wiggins. i

Mr. Wicerxs. Mr. Kelley, I want to talk to you about what is going
oIl NOW. ,

The FBI does now engage in intelligence activities, does it not?

My, Keurey. It does.

Mr. Wicerns, Does it engage in counterintelligence activities?

Mr. Rerney. Yes. :

Mr. Wrearns, At the present time?

Mr. Kerrey. Yos.
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Mr. Wieerns. I take it that that activity i i
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ol 0 poomys. 1 | y ucted by agents in the
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lr. Wicerns, Well, I a ding you if y ithi
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8 “erf;get c‘)"l}]a{g \15 }egardedlaa prlol)er intelligence functions of the FBI?
i < n general the kinds of activities whi i :
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: ' g respect to certain categor fh
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Mr. Wicarys. Did you wish to expand on that, Mr. Petersen?

Mr. Prrersex. I do want to make a clavification that theve are intel-
ligence activities conducted, generally speaking, and by that we mean
a gathering of factual material with respect to people who have the
reputation of being involved in organized crime. That ig not a willy-
nilly choice. Those are people who have established reputations with
police agencies for the conduct of illegal activity on a day-to-day basis
over o Jong period of time. Marshaling of that activity is then analyzed
to cletermine what specific violations are involved. That is a ve-
sponsibility of not only the Federal Bureau of Investigation but all
police agencies.

My, Wicomys. In addition to those two broad categories, is there a
third, is there a national defense category?

My, Stseryan. There is a counterintelligence effort on the part of
the Tederal Bureaun of Investigation and in that respect it has some
cimilarities to the intelligence gathering that TTenyy just referred to in
the organized crime area, but iF does have a statutory basis in prosecut-

able offenses. _
M. Wicerys. I would like to know, Mr. Kelley, what control you

assert over these activities, Ave field agents authorized at the present
time to initiate any one of these three investigative activities?

Mr. Keuney. Most of the investigations are initiated in the ficld
where they are reviewed by supervisory staft and sent to Washington
where they are again reviewed by supervisory personnel. If it appears
to us that it has no possibility of success. or that it is something that we
chould not be wasting our time on, the investigation will be discon-
tinued. On the other hand, additional information may be necessary
before any decision can be made.

Mr. Wieeixs. At the present time your
review

Mr. Keriey. Yes.

Ay, SmerraaN. In most cases. In other cases. for instance, in the

counterintelligence activities, my experience is that it is indeed the
Vashington office of the Bureau, in conjunction with the Criminal
Division or the Internal Security Section of the Criminal Division,
and with appropriate consultation with myself and the Attorney Gen-
eral, that oftentimes initiates activities in the counterintelligence field.

Mr. Wicarys. I know my time is up but T would like to pin this down.
Can the supervising agents in a field office institute a specific intelli-
gence activity without prior approval from ‘Washington, D.C.?

Mr. Krzrey. Noj he cannot, not a general program of intelligence-
gathering activities. L

Mr. Wicerxs. Then you oversee the program initiated by the men in
the field but they implement it without getting your approval of each
specific act, am T correctly describing that?

Mr. SeeraaN. The Bureau is one of the most highly supervised
organizations in the Government, Congressman Wiggins. In my ex-
perience in various Government agencies I have never seen an organi-
sation which is more tightly controlled from Washington.

M. Wigerns. My time has expired.
Mr. Epwarns. Mr. Waldie.

Mr. Warpte. Mr. Kelley, T have your statement of November 18

in hand. Do I presume that prior to the writing of this statement you

policy is an after the fact
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in fact had access to the Petersen reportini ire i
edited form that is before our commli)ttee}én its entirety, nob the abridged

%\-}av;{you seeri the entirve Petersen report ?

r. Kerrey. I saw the first draft and subse t draf

Mr. WarLpIn. W Lo tts, oo
oy, Wa t?) gﬂ]ffzx other words, you have seen more than is before our

Il‘ér. Z%;“LLLEY. Yes, sir.

Ir. Warpe. Now let me read somethi ;

ask if you agree that thisisso: g from your stotement and

Tor the FBI to have done less under the ci
or t B done e circumstances woul
a;rl‘)élégagg)& ionl_‘céists nﬁiSI%OhI;iﬂ%%ltyF%)Ithe American people. The stud(; %:ﬁihh%egqgg
C L e employees involved in th y
entirely in good faith and within the b O D el
ely i 0 ounds of what was expec
the President, the Attorney General, the Congress, and the Alﬁlei?gagf;&iﬁleby
Do voustill believe that to be the case?
%Ci[r. Krrrny. Yes, sir.
r. Warnme. I have in my 1
. e | vy hand a memorandum for you
Attorney General, William Saxbe. He says: you from the

I am pleased that your memo
recommiensed conces;ns. randum of December &. 1978 to FBI emnplovees

And states the Bureau policy to be that:

TBI employees must not enga igati

" C ge in any investigative activity whic

%ggggfult?oingﬁagn%ﬁ r;%hg_srguarrtnteed t% a citizen of the Uniteg Stateé1 b%o;%g
§ 1 ircumstances shall employees of the FBI ge in

any conduct which may result in defamin on, ntegity
eon R g the character, reputat inte

or dignity of any citizen or nrganization of citizens of the ngted g)trxi{té:tcgrity
tI')O vou ‘behevo that that stated policy was in fact honored in the

ac ﬁcIonsIgf the pl;)v,gmm that we are examining now ?

Mr, Krrrey. You are reading from a memor

e ne . I prepared ;
oot ading a memorandum that T prepared;

1\11'. WarpIE. Yes,

L T “ < . w0
F];TT. A%‘I,T,m. Congressman, T am in a position where T came into the

Tas Din ector after this started. I look at the intent.

Mr. Warpre. T know that.

I{\;h; KELIfE)’. I don’t think under any cireumstances that we should
len,rahe. int ns‘type of activity today and this is clear in instructions I
16 ve given thronghout the Burean. We should not do it but if eivcum-
stances gh.ange to the point that some type of lawful activity is ap-
Ip}rogu }ate 1n’the future, we are going to go through the line of authority
, 1:}\{\& e s%polxe of, that is, to the Attorney General. '
volﬁ {)eﬁe:r?)fl;ﬁ If you b(%h(’\"(‘ \\g{ should not o it today, is that because
yo! » the circumstances that would warra ! i
T e ( arrant such action do not

Mr. Krvnry. That is right.

Mr. Warpie. If those circumstances once again in your mind oceur,
you would construe the conduct of fhis program to be proper and
le\}hln the policy guidlines that T read to you, developed by you.

.~ g I’CELLEY. Only if we go to the Attorney General and in turntoa
urther level of review, for example, to the President.

ML WAme.Jr Would you ask authority under any circumstances for
appr oval of activity which could abridge rights guaranteed to citizens
of the United States by the Constitution.

Mr. SmeermaN. It really—
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My, Warpm, Just a moment, would you perrait the Director, let me
explain why I am interested in the Director’s responses rather than
yours.

I think I pretty well know where you stand and Mr. Petersen.

Mr. SmsrErMaN. And the Attorney General.

Mr. Warom, I knew where the Department of Justice stood during
the days this program was in cffect. The fact of the matter was the
program was in existence because I didn’t know where the Director
stood. I am trying to find out where our present Director stands. I
think that is important. I appreciate your not intruding in the inquiry.

Mr. SizErMAN. Fair enough.

Mr. Warpm, Mr. Kelley, would you respond, are there any circum-
stances when you would.seek approval from the Attorney General for
the right to abridge the rights and privileges guaranteed American
citizens under the Constitution ?

Mr. Krerrey., Congressman Waldie, this is, of course, a very broad
concept about when do you abridge the rights.

Mr, Warpie. It is a narrow concept.

Mr. Kuzrey. I would not under any circumstances contemplate ac-
tion without going to the Attorney General or to the President. I don’t
know of the situation which might suggest this. If it came up, T would
have to consider my responsibilities under the circumstances.

Mr. Warpre. T appreciate your candor, Mr, Kelley.

Mr. Silberman, one question to you. You have responded in answer
to a question asked by Mr. Sarbanes, which was why do we not have
the full report, and I did not know we did not have it and apparently
no one knew we did not have the full Petersen report. One of the
standards that you said dictated your determination to provide us an
abridged report, I attempted to write it down specifically, you said, you
were concerned about the philosophic framework in which this report
would be examined——

Mr. Smeeraan. Noj that isn’t what I meant.

Mr. Warore. That is what you said.

Mr., SmerermaN. No; I said there was a discussion of philosophy in
it, in one of the drafts of the Petersen report. There are various drafts.
And there was a recommendation against ecriminal prosecution. There
were other matters which were not strictly related to the facts of the
COINTEL programs.

I can assure you—I want to make this quite clear—that with one
exception of one sentence in the report it 1s a complete and factual
summary. That one sentence was deleted because as I told you earlier,
it revealed the identity, the Bureau felt, of an informant in the counter-
intelligence field.

Every other description of what happened is in this report.

Mr. Warpme, Then if that be the case, with the deletion of that one
name you should have no objection to providing us with the original
40-page raport.

Mr. SmeeryaN. Your assumption is incorrect,

Mr, Warpm, Well, now, tell me why. That assumption would seem
to follow the nature of today.

Mr. SmeeERMAN. Because if we had thought it was appropriate to re-
lease the full discussion we would have done so at the time. There are
a lot of internal working documents in the Justice Department which
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go to the making of a final report. This is the Attorney General’s
Teport. .

IMr. Warpre. We are not asking for the work document. T want to
address just this question to the Chair, since my time isup.

Mr. Chairman, will this committee be insistent upon its right to
have in its possession the entire Petersen report, though its considera-
tion be in executive session. : i

Mr. Epwarps, This committee will require, I am sure, all of the in-
formation that is available and, of course, we will handle the matter
in executive session.

Mr. SreERMAN. In executive session I have a great deal less reluc-
tance to disclose almost anything.

Mr. Epwaros. Mr, McClory. ' ‘

Mr. McCrory. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I think the proceeding
here today discloses that our failure to resolve the committee session
into executive session has greatly hampered and limited our oppor-
tunities to sccure information, and I think all we have done is to have
a rehash of some press releases and public information which, if we are
going to expand on this infor:aation, we are going to have to do it in
executive session. )

T am concerned myself and I feel that the Director asserts a very
important position in indicating the protection of the interests of our
citizens in taking steps to prevent revolution and to prevent violence
that might otherwise occur, and I know that the former late Director
was well intended even though he may not have always respected the
individual constitutional rights of citizens. o

T am sure, Mr. Director, that you would not support any principle
which would deny individual rights on the mere pretext that you felt
that a majority of the people of the Nation would have their position
enhanced or protected by the denial of those constitutional rights,
would you?

Mr. Kerrey. You are correct. .

Mr. McCrory. In other words, we endeavor to carry out our function
of protecting the Nation and preserving the peace while at the same
time respecting the individual rights and prerogatives which the Con-
stitution guarantees.

Mr. KeLiny. Yes, Sir. ) .

Mr. McCrory. I read from your statement that superior authorities
were always informed as to this type of counterintelligence activity
carried on by the FBI and that specific communications were directed
to the Attorneys General in 1963, 1967 and 1969. I am also confused by
the dates, but I gather that communications, that is reports from the
FBI regarding at least some of these counterintelligence activities,
were communicated to the late former Attorney General Robert
Kennedy, former Attorney General Nicholas Katzenbach, and former
Attorney General Ramsey Clark; is that correct?

Mr. Krrrey. Those were the ones, yes.

Mr. McCrory. Now, reference was made somewhere at least to the
intense danger because of the bombing of the Capitol. I recall the
bombing of the Capitol; they set off a bomb in the men’s room over on
the Senate side and did cause some disruption. Actually has that ever
been connected in any way with any revolutionary group that you

know of?
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Mr. Keresy. Yes, sir,

Mr, McCrory. It has? y

Mr. Kerrey., It has. They have claimed credit for the act them-
selves.

Mr. McCrory. Is that investigation completed ?

Mr. Kerrey. No, siv.

Mr. McCrory. That investigation is continuing ¢

Mr. Xrurey. Yes, sir.

Mr. McCrory. And do you feel that is one reason for justifying
counterintelligence activities against groups that purport to be anti-
establishment or anti-Government,?

Mr. Krurey. I don’t think just because they are antiestablishment
or anti-Government, it warrants the use of any such program.

Mr. MoCuuitr, One more question. In the counterintelligence
activities, have we engaged in any wiretaps without securing authority
of the district courts as required by law in nonnational defense cases?

Mr. Smaoeraray. Congressman McClory, that 'is a subject I do not
believe we should go into in open session.

Mr. McCrory. Is that in%ormation which may be made available
to us in the executive session.

Mr. Perersexn. I don’t think we understand the question.

Mer. StzurraaN, You said counterintelligence did younot ?

Mr. McCrory. Yes.

Mr, SmeerMAN. I thought you did.

Mr. Prrersen. Excuse me.

Mr, Smnernman. Tt is a matter that would he appropriate for this
House in execcutive session. Tt has already been made available to
the other Flouse in exeentive session.

My, McCrory., Thank you very much.,

Mzr. Epwarps, Mrv, Sarbanes.

Mr, Sanpawns, Mr, Kelly, this truncated report states, among other
things, some COINTELPRO activities involved isolated instances of
practices that can only be considered abhorent in a free society.

Do you agree with that statement ?

Mr. Kurrey. I do not.

Mr. McCrory. The Attorney General in his press release reiterated
his November 18 news conference, statement that the materials
released today diselosed in a small number of instances that some of
these programs involve what we consider today to be improper activi-
ties. T am disturbed about those improper activities.

Do you agree with that stated position ?

Mr, Krrrry., Some of the actions taken under these programs are
under present review by the Attorney General and the Department
of Justice. Some of these have been concluded to have been improper,
and T agree with the Attorney General that seme were.

Mr, McCrory. Do you think they are improper or would you think
them improper absent a determination by the Attorney General?

Mr. Xenrey. I do construe them as improper today, yes.

Mr., McCrory. Absent that determination. Tn other words, it is
your own perception that some of these activities are improper?

Mr. Kercey. I make this determination personally.

Mr. McCrory. Now, in your statement, and I take it this was a
statement that you made subsequent to the Attorney General’s press

';,M,.k._m,..v_m R
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cogference of November 18; is that correct your statement of November
18¢

Mr. Kariey, Yes; that was simultaneous with his release of the
information.

Mr. McCrory. I see. You said “the study which I have made.” Was
that study put into written form ?

Mr. Kuriey. No, sir.

Mer. McCrory. Your study ?

My. Keriey. No, sir.

Mr. McCrory., “Which I made convinces me that FBI employees
involved in these programs acted entirely in good faith and within
the bounds of what was expected of them by the President, the At-
torney General, the Congress and the American people.”

Is it your position that theve was no action taken by the FBI that
was 1ot carvied out within sanctioned bounds as transmitted to the
IBI by either the . 'resident, the Attorney General, the Congress, or
the American people? Is that your position?

Mr. Keraey. My position 1s that it was considered by the former
Director and the members of his executive stail that this was a type
of activity that was sanctioned by those you mentioned, including the
American people.

Mr. McCrory. I am interested in that later sanction. I find it an
interesting one because it is also referred Ly you at the bottom of
page 3 of your statement, wheve you say in carrying out its counter-
intelligence programs the FBI received the personal encouragement
of & myriad of citizens both within and without the Government.
And I do not understand what is the legal authority that the FBI
finds for these activities in terms of the.encouragement of private
citizens.

Do you perceive that to be some basis from which the FBI can
draw authority for engaging in these activities?

Mr. Krruey, In the context in which I view the situation now, I
do not think it is proper to embark on such programs, and, as I
said, I will not do so. But in that time, and with those troubles, and
with the strong feelings that something should be done by some-
body, the then Teadership felt it was a manifestation of a need, and
1t was pursued. )

Mr. McCrory. Well, at such times, and I hope it would not happen,
if such times were to again descend upon the Tand, is it your position
that the FBI in response to those circumstances, comparable to what
existed at an earlier time, should embark upon these activities, en-
gage in these activities again ?

Mr. Kenrey, T don’t know, Congressman. We are talking about a
hypothetical situation.

Mr. McCrory. I did not say the Government, I said the TFBI?

Mr, Keniey. Yes, sir. We are talking about the Government when
we tallk about the FBIL. I would not take any such action independ-
ent of the Attorney General or the President. I have even considered
the possibility of legislation, and I know this would be extremely
difficult to enact. If actions of the type we are discussing here are
again needed, I want to be able to carry them out in accordance with
proper statutes or executive orders; in other words, do it the way

am sure you would want it done.
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Mr. McCrory. Mr.

Mr. SrperamAN. May I add a point?

Mr. McCrory. Surely

Mr. Smseraran. The crucial point for the Attorney General and
myself, both of whom exercise supervisory responsibility over the
T'BI, is that we have the ironclad assurance, and with the capacity
to monitor it. that the Bureau would never engage in such a program
without coming to us. And in my judgment and I know it’s the At-
torney General’s judgment, it should not only receive the ratification
of the President, but also should be taken before the appropriate
oversight committees of both the Flouse and the Senate. And that is
an ironclad procedural safeguard which T think 1s terribly impor-
tant and I know this House will agree. .

Mr. McCrory. Obviously that is one of the things I think is im-
perative to evolve out of these hearings and this discussion. The one
thing that concerns me in the Director’s statement, and T will close
on this because I see my time is up, is that we arve considering a broad
range of activities in terms of what was done by FBI agents directed
against a broad range of groups and, of course, it is asserted that
some of that was proper; I think it is conceded that some was im-
proper, and obviously it points out the complexity of the problem,
since obviously vou have to consider, one, the nature of the kind
of activities in which agents are engaged. some of which may well
be precluded under any circumstances in a democratic society.

My, Svereraran. T think vou are absolutely right on that point.

Mr. McCrory. And, secondly, of course, you may well have to relate
it with respe.: to the subjects against whom such activities are en-
gaged, ones against perhaps giving hetween American citizens and
agents of a foreign power, something of that sort. ]

Mr. Kenuey. I think vou are quite corrvect. I think you put that in
an analytical framework which makes a great deal of sense.

Mr. McCrory. Thank you.

Mr. Epwarps. Mr. Drinan.

Mr. Drivan. Mr, Kelley, I am more and more distressed at the
content of your statement of November 18 of this year, as Mr. Sar-
hanes said, that you now infer that the Attorney General has statu-
tory power to allow the FBI to go beyond investigating, beyond
monitoring, go beyond counterintelligence, and actually take an af-
firmative action to disrupt the activities of a particular organization.

TWhere is the statutory basis for the executive order base for such
an afirmation ?

Mr. Kerrwy. I will admit that it does not come from easily iden-
tified sources. ,

Mr. Drivan. You mean some uneasily identified sources.

Mr. Kenrey. It is inherent, I think, in the need for the protection of
the constitution and the rights of the citizens which are guaranteed
by law.

Mr. Drivan. No activities, sir, to disrupt the activities of American
citizens bv law enforcement officials ean he immufad o any inhervent
activity or inherent power of the Department of Justice. I mean,
I don’t think that we can understand that. We are lawvers. we have
to say that you do or do not have the statutory power from the Con-
gress or from the Department of Justice.

Absgent some executive order that is related, clearlv, I frankly
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don’t see how you can judge, as you have, everything that has been
revealed to us this week. You say sometimes the FBI in the past
wanted to neutralize the activities of certain groups, then you say
that these activities of the FBI were made to disrupt these plans.
How can you judge such activity ¢

Mr. Keruey. I am not trying to judge them. I am saying that if it
comes up again we will go to the Attorney General and the Presi-
dent for guidance.

Mr. Drixax. What power does the Attorney General have? Let us
take the case that you go to the Attorney General this week or next
weelk, what power does he have from the Congress or the Constitu-
tion or anything ? I want Mr. Kelley’s answer.

Mr. Stuseraran. It seems to me you are asking:

Mr. Drinax. I am asking him the question. This is very essential.
I want people in America to trust their government, and their faith
in government has been eroded and when this came out I had letters
from constituents and they are in horror what the FBI did and you
say that for the TBI to have done less under these circumstances
would have been an abdication of its responsibility to the American
people.

I have a lotter received this morning saying how can the FBI
Director say that when these outrageous things are coming out.

All T say, I want all of us to prevent this in the future and yet
you are fudging on it and saying I will go to the Attorney General
and he has that inherent power to give me the power to disrupt the
activities of a group. Where is that power?

Mx., Kerrey., T ask that we refer this to Mr. Silherman. I have
already stated what I thought was this power. I will not pursue a
course of action unless there is an approval given by higher authovity
speaking of there being an approval or disapproval of these past
activities, I have had numerous people tell me they feel that the activi-
ties of the I'BT in light of the problems of that day were completely
right and just. But I do not want to argue abont anything that hap-
pened in the past. We are talking about what may happen 1 the
future. If I see a situation where I think some extraordinary analysis
is needed or some extraordinary moves are needed to counteract a clear
and present danger, I am going to present it to the Department of
Justice.

Mr. Drrvax. Well, the Congress clearly has the power to enact a
statute that would forbid any Federal law enforcement agency from
ever disrupting an organization’s activities. You have the power to
arrest if vou see a crime. You obvionsly Lave the power of gathering
intelligence, but you must bring this to another branch of Government.

When you say counterintelligence that is an euphemism, it is
almost, it yon will. in the form of official anavehy: yov are engaging
in the same activities that these people tend to engage in. Al T ean
say, sir, is that if it is, the Clongress would pass a bill saving that the
FBI and the Department of Justice may not disrupt the citizens or
groups. ' ’

Do you want such a statute. Do you think it is needed ¢

Mr. Keniey. In the event such statute is passed we will completely
abide by it. ‘

Mz, Drixvax. Do you think that such statute is necessary?

Mer. Kerray. No, sir, T do not.
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My, Drrvax. In other words, that there is no power of the Depart-
ment of Justice now to authovize that?

Mr. Kernney, My, Silberman.

My, Sueeeman. My answer to that question is you are using the
word disruption and I think I am using it in the same way. We do
nob have power to authorize the Burean to disrupt domestic groups.

Mur. Drixax. Therefore, Mrv. Ielley is being told in effect don’t come
to the Attorney General under any circwmstances to try to get permis-
sion to disrupt activities. )

Mr, Smseraran. Frankly, Congressman Drinan, I would rather he
came {o the Attorney General and myself whenever there was a ques-
tionable poiut so we would make it absolutely certain that we were
applying the constitutional law of the United States.

My, Dunaw, T am relieved of thisy Mr. Silberman, because Mr.
Kelley was claiming a power which you concede, as I understand it,
vou don't possess. Thanl you.

My, Epwarps. Would you not agree, Mr. Silberman, in addition,
neither Congress nor the Executive has the right by Executive order
or by law to authorize unconstitutional activities such as are deseribed
in the Petersen report?

My, Sreseraran. I think it follows as the night follows the day, that
neither the executive branch nor the Congress can authorize uneon-
stitutional activities.

Mr. Epwaros. Mr. Rangel.

Mr, Raweer, Thank you.

T think one of the problems that we have is that the panel doesn’t
trust the Congress, because it is coming over pretty clear that HMr.
Ielley believes that these agents are wrong now and it was wrong
then. T supposoe there are reasons why at any level of the executive
government that you have to select your words very carefully.

Many of the acts described in the release are clearly unconstitu-
tional and illegal.

Mr. Petersen says it is a question as to whether there is substantial
evidence to prosecute.

Mr. Perersex. I just want to qualify that. This is not a prosecu-
tion report.

Mr. Rawerr. I understand that.

M. Perersex. I was talking about the policy——

My, Raxeern, You have really given me the substance of my next
question.

If there issome fecling that this committee is operating on a vendetta
to embarrass the Federal Bureau of Investigation, I could clearly
mderstand why one might say, well, let’s see that it doesn’t happen
again and forget the past.

But vou have to appreciate that the members of this subcommittee
don't have the slightest idea what the past is. We are not convinced,
and I just can't think of a better word, but I am not using the word
coverup in the sense that it has been used. But we are not convinced,
since Mr, Petersen wag not instructed to find out whether anyone
violated the lasv, hut was asked to give a very general report in ovder
to see that some of these illegal and immoral acts do not oceur in the
future. And T just trust that when we go into executive session, not
fov the purpose of filing indictments, that we will have a better-under-
standing as to what we are talking about, and it bothers me, as it
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hothers Father Drinan, there is nothing that you are saying, Director
Kelley, today that doesn’t allow all of ue, I think, to believe that you
think these ncts were wrong in the past. I don’t know why it is diffi-
cult to say it and why it has to be, but with all the American flag-
waving they did, the best they could with what they had to work with.
It is frightening if these things occur in thus decade that you feel that
you can find any autherity to say that this thing would happen again
and I think it would make us all feel a lot easier if you show we can
rephrase the statement and say that it was wrong then. We are not
saying the people were acting with criminal intent, but it is wrong
and there is no constitutional basis for this type of conchict, and I hope
that when we go into executive session that we can go in with the
framework that we are not charging anybody with this wrongdoing,
sitting at this panel, but you can’t be sensitive at one hand because it
may appear that as one is charging you with this conduct, and then
at the same time say but we find nothing wrong with that conduct
when it, too, plays.

Mr. SreerMax. Congressman Rangel, the Director of the Federal
Bureau of Investigation is subordinate to the heads of the Depart-
ment of Justice. The Attorney General and myself and Henry Peter-
sen all regarded this report as listing acts which we believe to have
been wrong.

Mr. Raxneen. Well, I don’t know whether that really comes through
in Director Kelley's statement, written statement, but it certainly
comes through in his testimony today.

Mr. Suseryan. The crucial point is that Dirvector Kelley has made
a flat committment that nothing will be undertaken without our
approval. ) .

Mr. Rawerrn. I can appreciate that and I am just saying that it is
just one last hurdle that I think we have to overcome and that is I
sincerely believe, and I am not asking a question, Director Kelley be-
lieves it was wrong when it was done. I turn back the balance of my
time.

L}'[l‘. Drrxax. Would the gentleman yield?

Mr. Raxown. T yield.

Mr. Drrvax. I would be very happy and I take it the members of
the panel would, and T think American citizens would, if Mr. Kelley
would say that he won’t use this power to disrupt activities even if
the Attorney General gave it to him. [Laughter.]

I think that is what you want to say from the way I hear you,
and that you haven’t said that, and Mr. Rangel has brought it out
very well, and that all I say is that Mr. Silberman has conceded
that he or the Attorney General has no power to authorize un-
der any circumstances disruptive activities of the I'BI, and T really
feel that it follows like the night, the day, that the BT should say that
even if some Attorney General told us that we could use this power,
we won’t use it, this power, because the Attorney General doesn't have
the power to transmit.

Mr. SmsermaN. The problem is we are using an expression disrup-
tive activities, which I think I understand what you mean, and if I
do understand it I agree with you, But it is in fact a very general
phrase and indeed ordinary criminal law enforcement “activities
torgeted against organized crime groups do in fact “disrupt” their
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activities and we intend that. The problem I think you refer to are
such as the matters referred to in some sections of the report which

go beyond what are normal criminal investigative matters and which
are targeted to disruption in a broader sense and in that broad sense I
would agree with you 100 percent.

t’ Mr. Drizax. Thank you very much. I yield back the balance of my
ime.

Mr. Epwarps. We are going to adjourn in a few minutes but Mr.
MeClory would like to question you.

Mr. McCrory. I know we are about to adjourn and I do not want to
engage in any further questioning. Fowever, I do wish to make ona
observation, and that is while we have addressed a lot of questions and
inquiries and voiced suspicions and doubts T want to applaud the At-
torney General’s initiative, his action, in giviug sssurance in public
statements and supplemented by the statements here today ithnt {hera is
a recognition that a number of the activities were improper, they will
be discontinued, they will not be countenanced in the future. I myself
feel veassured from the appearances made here today that we are going
to he protected against this type of offensive, in my opinion, unconsti-
tutional counteroffensive activities which do impair, do deny individ-
ual constitutional rights, and I want to commend the Attorney
General and T want to commend the Director and the Assistant
Attorneys General for their statements and their positions as
expressed before this committee.

My, Srrseraaxw. Thank you, sir.

Mr. Warote. I have really quite a bit of confidence in yours and M.
Petersen and the Department of Justice ability to reflect the needs we
are discussing here of protecting constitutional liberties and I do not
share the same confidence in the Director, Mr. Kelley’s abilities or sensi-
tivities, and I don’t say that in criticism of him. He has not been
trained in that field. Fle 1s a policeman. And that field is not necessarily
involved deeply in those sort of responsibilities.

Therefore, 1 suggest this to you. The pattern in the past has really
been to situations we arve all confronting now, generally the Depart-
ment of Justice under the Attorneys General, particularly under
which the abuse too plays, were quite cognizant to civil liberties and
quite cognizant of the needs of protecting, with an exception or two,
the abuse occurred within the Department because of the insensitivities
of the former Director to those problems. I don’t expect you to acqui-
esce or dissent. My only personal view of the matter leads me to that
conclusion. Where I am fearful is that the structure that we seek to
establish to prevent a recurrence of this sort of abuse will be dependent
upon Mr. Kelley recognizing the need of coming to you for approval.
I don’t think Mr. Kelley is capable of recognizing that need and again
T don’t reflect on Mr. Kelley. I think a machinery has to be set up that
it is not Mr. Kelley who initiates this inquiry to receive approval for
actions that are questionable. The machinery has to be set up that there
is oversight of Mr. Kelley so that he does not unwittingly undertake
these sort of activities. I found absolutely no confidence in the response
he gave to questions that he is capable of recognizing the need of going
to you for approval for such actions. ‘

Mr. SisermAN. I think that is terribly unfair, Congressman Waldie.

Mr. Warprr. T hope it is inaccurate.
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My, Siperarax. It is inaccurate. The Attorney General and I have
absolute confidence. .

Alr. Warore. It is not intended to be fair or unfair, it is intended to
be a deseription of my impression as to his responses to questions asked
by this committee and I will review the transcript and refer it to you
to demonstrate why I possess these doubts. It is not intended as any
evaluation of Mr. Kelley in terms of this field. Maybe you need that
sort of individual to be the Director of I'BI. The fact of the matter is
he is there and the fact of the matter is we had an individual of that
kind there under which all of these terrible abuses took place, and you
concur they are terrible. e .

You ave Interested, as is this committee, in making certain they don’t
occur in the future, and I only suggest to you that to depend upon Mr.
Kelley to recognize a situation where they might occur and come to
you for consent is placing a great deal of responsibility upon Mr.
Kelley to even recognize the need of such permission.

My Strneryan. May I respond to that?

My, Warpie. Yes. ]

Mr. Smmeeraax. Fivst, T would like to tell this committee thgt the
Attorney General and I have absolute confidence in Clarence Kelley.
He is put in a very awkiard position here and you all ought to realize
it. Tle was not there when these acts were engaged in and he has an
obvious personal reluctance it seems to me to have to be in a position to
condemn his predecessor. That is not Director Kelley talking, that is
me talking. There is and has been in motion for the months that At-
torney General Saxbe and I have been in the Department a much closer
working relationship between the rest of the Department and the
Bureau. We don’t any longer refer to them as two separate entities.
I have absolute confidence that any matter, indeed any policy initiative
of the Bureau, even if it was clearly within its statutory authority but
was nonetheless a new policy initiative, would come to the Attorney
General and myself. We have absolute confidence in that. i

Mr. Warpms. Well I feel reassured by the strength of your convie-
tions in this regard and apparently you have been exposed to a more
indepth knowledge of the Director than have we today heen exposed.

Afr. Perersex. I would like to add something mave. Over the past
few years, the relationships between the Federal Bureau of Investiga-
tion and the vest of the Department of Justice have, in my estimation,
improved 1,000 percent. There is more communication than in the past.
There is a spirit of cooperation which I am frank to say did not always
exist in the past. I don’t mean te say that we regard them as perfect
any more than they regard us as perfect and we quarrel and quibble
and debate on a professional level, which is healthy, and we have no
disagreement with you at all. I share your concerns that that improve-
ment needs to continue. We would like to see a mechanism to insure
that it does continue. We have no panacea to offer in this regard. It 1s
always going to be headed by an individual and there is always going
to be, because it is a large organization with wide responsibility, a great
deal of independence accorded to that individual.

Mr. Warpim. I appreciate that. ) )

Mr. Epwaros. Thank you very much, gentlemen. We will adjourn
the committee subject to call of the Chair. )

[ Whereupon, af 4 :55 p.m. the subcommittee adjourned subsequent to
the call of the Chair.]
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SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE,
FEDERAL BUREAU OF INVESTIGATION,
Washington, D.C., November 22, 197}.
Hon. Dox EDWARDS,
House of Representatives,
Washington, D.C.

DeAr Mr, CHAIRMAN: During my appearance before your subcommittee on
November 20th, several references were made to the statement which I released
to the press on November 18, 1974, regarding the I"BI’s counterintelligence pro-
gram. I am enclosing a copy of this statement along with some background ma-
terial for your ready reference and for inclusion in the transcript of the hearing.

With best wishes,

Sincerely yours,
CrARENGCE M. KELLEY,
Directon.

STarEMENT oF IIoN. CrareNceE M. KXuriry, Direcror, FEDERAIL, BUREAU OF
INVESTIGATION

Attorney General William B, Saxbe teday has released a veport regarding FBI
counterintelligence programs. The report was prepared by a Justice Department
committee which included FBI representatives that was specially appointed early
this year to study and report on those programs.

Since taking the oath of office as Director on July 9, 1973, I also have made a
detailed study of these same FBI counterintelligence programs.

The first of them—one directed at the Communist Party, USA—was instituted
in September, 1956. None of the programs was continued heyond April, 1971,

The purpose of these counterintelligence programs was to prevent dangerous,
and even potentinlly deadly, acts against individuals, organizations, and institu-
tlons—both public and private——across the United States.

They were designed to counter the conspiratorial efforts of revolutionary ele-
ments in this country, as well as to neutralize extremists of both the Left and the
Right who were threatening, and in many instances fomenting, acts of violence.

The study which I have made convinees me that the I'BI employees involved in
these programs acted entirely in good faith and within the bounds of what was
expected of them by the President, the Attorney General, the Congress, and the
American people.

Tach of these counterintelligence programs hore the approval of the then-
Director J. Ldgar Hoover.

Pronosals for courses of action to be taken under these programs were subject

to approval in advance, as well as to constant review, by FBI Field Office and

Headquarters officials.

Throughout the tenure of these programs, efforts admittedly were made to dis-
rupt the anarchistic plans and activities of violence-prone groups whose publicly
announced goal was to bring America to its knees. For the FBI to have doune less
under the circumstances would have been an abdication of its responsibilities
to the American people. ‘

Let me remind those who would now criticize the FBI's actions that the
United States Capitol was bombed; that other explosions rocked public and
private offices and buildings; that rioters led by revolutionary extremists laid
siege to military, industrial, and educational facilities; and that killings, maim-
ings, and other atrocities accompanied such acts of violence from New England
to California.

The victims of these acts of violence were human beings—men, women, and
chitdren who looked to the IBI and other law enforcement agencies to protect
their lives, rights, and property. An important part of the FBI's response was
to devise counterintelligence programs to minimize the threats and the fears
confronting these citizens.

(44)

In carrying out its counterintelliegnce programs, the F'BI received the per-
sonal encouragement of myriad citizens both within and without the Govern-
ment. Many Americans feared for their own safety and for the safety of their
Government, Others were revolted by the rbetoric of violence and the acts of
violence that were being preached and practiced across our country by hard-core
extremists.

I invite your attention to the gravity of the problem as it then existed, as
well as the need for decisive and effective counteraction by the criminal justice
and intelligence communitiss.

I want to assure you that Director Hoover did not conceal from superior
authorities the fact that the PBI was engaging in neutralizing and disruptive
tactics against revolutionary and violence-prone groups. For example, in a com-
munication concerning a revolutionary organization that he sent to the then-
Attorney General and the White House on May 8, 1958, Mr. Hoover furnished
details of techniques utilized by the FBI to promote disruption of that
organization.

A second communication calling attention to measures being employed as an
adjunct to the I'BI's regular investigative operationg concerning this same rev-
olutionary organization was sent to the Attorney General-designate and the
Deputy Attorney General-Gesignate by Mr. Hoover on J anuary 10, 1961.

Myr. Hoover also sent communications to the then-Attorneys General in 1965,
1967, and 1969 furnishing them information regarding disruptive actions the
FBI was employing to neutralize activities of certain Rightist hate groups.

I have previously expressed my feeling that the FBI's counterintelligence
brograms had an impnct on the crises of the time and, therefore, that they
helped to bring about a favorable change in this country.

As I said in December, 1973 :

“Now, in the context of a different era where peace has returned to the col-
lege campuses and revolutionary forces no longer pose a major threat to
peace and tranquility of our cities, some may deplore and condemn the FBI's
use of a counterintelligence program—even against hostile and arrogant forces
which openly sought to destroy this nation,

“I share the public’s deep concern about the citizen’s right to privacy and
gl‘elxil'?ervation of all rights guaranteed under the Constitution and Bill of

ights. -

My position remains unchanged.,

JOUNTERINTELLIGENCE PROORAM——BACKGROUND MATERIAL

I. INTRODUCTION

The FBI's counterintelligence program was developed in response to needs
at the time to quickly neutralize organizations and individuals who were ad-
vocating and fomenting urban violence and campus disorder. The riots which
swept America’s urban centers, beginning in 1965, were quickly followed by
violent disorders which paralyzed college campuses. Both situations led to
calls for action by alarmed Government leaders and a frightened citizenry.

IX. TENOR OF THE TIMES

An Associated Press survey noted that, during the first nine months of 1967,
racial violence in 67 cities resulted in 85 deaths, injuries to' 3,200 people and
property damage of over $100,000,000. The February, 1970, issue of “Security
Wor}c " stated that during the period January 1 to August 31, 1989, losses
specifically traced to campus disorders amounted to $8,946,972.

In March, 1965, then Senator Robert F. Kennedy predicted more violence
in the $outh and North after Congress passed voting rights legislation. Ken-
nedy said, “I don’t care what legislation is passed——we are going to have prob-
lems. .. violence.”

A' Uunited Press International release on December 5, 1967, quoted Pennsyl-
vania’s Governor Raymond P. Shafer as warning that “urban disaster” in the
form of “total urban warfare” is waiting in the wings to strike if the race problem
is not solved in the Nation’s cities.

Attorney (}eneral Ramsey Clark reported to President Johoson on January 12,
}‘968, according to the “Washington Star,” that extremist activity to foment

rebellion in urban ghettos” has put a severe strain on the FBT and other Justice
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Department resources. Clark called this “the most difficult intelligence problem”
in the Justice Department. }

A United Press Infernational release on February 13, 1968, stated that Presi-
dent Johnson expected further turmoil in the cities and ‘“several bad summers”
before the Nation’s urban problems are solved.

1II, CALLB TO ACTION

President Lyndon Johnson said in a television address to the Nation on
July 24, 1967, in describing events that led to sending troops to Detroit during
that city's riot, “We will not tolerate lawlessness, We will not endure violence.
1t matters not by whom it is done, or under what slogan or banner. It will not
be tolerated.” He called upon “all of our people in all of our cities” to “show
by word and by deed that rioting, looting and public disorder will just not be
tolerated.”

In a second address to the Nation 3. just three days, President Johnson
announced the appointment of a special Advisory Commission on Civil Disorder
to investigate origins of urban riots. The President said that this country had
“endured a week such that no Nation should live through; a time of violence
and tragedy.” He declared that “the looting and arson and plunder and pillage
which have occurred are not part of a civil rights protest.,” “It is no American
right,” said the Pregident, to loot or burn or “fire rifles from the roaeftops.” Those
in public responsibility have “an immeciate” obligation “to end disorder,” the
President told the American people, by using “every means at our command. . . J”

The President warned public officials that “if your response to these tragic
events is only business-as-usual, you invite not only disaster but dishonor.”
President Johnson declared that “violence must be stopped—quickly, finally and
permanently®” and he pledged “we will stop it.”

House Speaker John W, McCormick said on July 24, 1967, after conferring
with President Johnson that the President had told party leaders that “public
order is the first business of Government,” 'The next day, Senator Robert C.
Byrd advocated “brutal force” to contain urban rioting and said adult looters
should be “shot on the spot.”

On April 12, 1968, Representative Clarence D, Long of Maryland urged J.
Bdgar Hoover in a letter and in a public statement to infiltrate extremist groups
to head off future riots and said I'BI Agents ‘“could take people like Negro
militants Stokely Carmichael and H. Rap Brown out of circulation.”

The “St. Louis Globe-—Democrat” in n February 14, 1969, editorial entitled,
“Throw the Book at Campus Rioters,” described campus disorders then sweeping
the Nation as *“a threat to the entire university educational system. This news-
paper called on the Attorney Geueral to “move now to stop these anti-American
anarchists and communist stooges in their tracks. He should hit them with every
weapon at his command. The American people are fed up with such bearded,
anarchist ereeps and would applaud a strong drive gagainst them. They have been
coodled and given lcense £o run roughshod over the rights of the majority of
college students far too long. It is time to hit them hard with evérything in the
book.”

On October 2, 1969, Senator Byrd said that “events in the news in the past few
days concerning activities by militant radical groups should alert us to the new
trouble that is brewing on the Nation’s epllege campuses and elsewhere.” Senator
Byrd said that “all of us would do well to pay heed now, and law enforcement
authorities should plan a course of action before the situation gets completely out
of hand.”

After the August 24, 1970, bombing at the University of Wisconsin, Madison,
a group of faculty members called for disciplinary action asaginst students in-
volved in disruption and violence. In a statement delivered to the Chancellor, 867
faculty members said “the rising tide of intimidation and violence on the cam-
puses in the last few years has made normal educational and scholarly activities
increasingly difficult. There has been a steady escalation of destructiveness that
has culminated in an act of homicide. Academic freedom, meaning freedom of
expression for all ideas and viewpoints, has been steadily eroded until now
many are questioning whether it exists on the Madison campus.” The faculty
members said that “the acts of a few must not be allowed to endanger the rights
and privileges of all members of the academic community.”

“The New York Times” reported on October 11, 1970, on “The Urban Guer-
rillas—A New Phenomenon in the United States” and noted that the Senate
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Subcommittee on Internal Security recently heard four days of testimony on four
bills aimed at “‘crushing the urban guerrillas,” including one “that would make
it a crime to belong to or aid organizations advocating terrorism, and would
prohibit the publication of periodicals that advocate violence sagninst police
and the overthrow of the Government.”

he President’s Commission on Campus Unrest in detailing “the law enforce-
ment response” noted that “it is an undoubted fact that on some campuses there
are men and women who plot, all too often successfully, to burn and bomb, and
sometimes to maim and kill. The police must attempt to determine whether or
not such a plot is in progress, and, if it is, they must attempt to thwart it.”

Finally, Allan C. Brownfeld, a faculty member at the University of Maryiand,
writing in “Christian Economics,” February 11, 1970, on “The New Left and
the Politics of Confrontation” noted that “in many instances, those extremists
who have fomented disorder have been in violation of state and Federal statutes.”
But, Mr. Brownfeld noted. “What is often missing is the will to prosecute and
to bring such individuals before the bar of justice.” Mr, Brownfeld’s article
was subcaptioned “A Society Which Will Not Defend Itself Against Anachists
Cannot Long Survive.”

1V. APPROPRIATIONS TESTIMONY

On Tebruary 10, 1966, FBI Director J. Edgar Hoover testified regarding the
Ku Klux Klan, saying that “the Bureau continues its program of penetrating
the Klan at all levels and, I may say, has been quite successful in doing so.
The Bureau's role in penetrating the Klan has received public attention due to
the solution of the brutal murders of Viola Luizzo in Alabama, Lieutenant
Colonel Lemuel A. Penn in Georgia and the three ecivil rights workers in Mis-
sissippi. We have achieved a number of other tangible accomplishments in this
field, most of which are not publicly known but are most significant.” Discussion
off the record followed.

V. PUBLIC SUPPORT OF THE COUNTERINTELLIGENCE PROGRAML

Following acknowledgement that the FBI had a counterintelligence progran,
syndicated columnist Victor Riesel wrote on June 15, 1973, “no apologies are due
from those in the highest authority for secretly developing a domestic counter-
reve.utionary intelligence stratagem in early 1970.” Mr. Riesel detailed the record
of “dead students,” “university libraries in flames,”” and “insensate murdering of
cops,” and concluded “it would have been wrong not to have attempted to counter
the sheer off-the-wall terrorism of the 1969-70 bomb seasons. And it would be
wrong today. No one need apologize for counterrevolutionary action.”

“QOur reaction is that we are exceedingly glad he ordered it,” wrote the “St.
T.ouis Globe—Doemocrat” in a December 11, 1073, editorinl on the counterintelli-
gence program. This newspaper noted that “‘the Federal Bureau of Investigation
under the late J. Edgar Hoover conducted a three-year campaign of counter-
intelligence ‘to expose, disrupt, and neutralize’ the New Left movement . . .” and
that “many of these New Left groups were doing everything they could to under-
mine the Government and some of them resorted to bombings, street riots, and
other gangster tactics. Others waged war on police across the Nation and on our
system of justice, Still others disrupted the Nation’s eampuses. The Nation can
be thankful it has a courageous and strong leader of the FBI to deal with the
serious threats posed by New Left groups during this period.”

On June 18, 1974, Bugene H. Methvin, Senior Editor, “The Reader's Digest,”
testified before the House Committee on Foreign Affairs regarding terrorism and
noted, “ . . the FBI’s counterintelligence program against the extremist core of
the New Left was a model of sophisticated, effective counter-terrorist law en-
forcement action first developed and applied with devastating effect agninsfz ghe
Ku Klux Xlan in the mid-1960's. In that context the strategy won great publicity
and praise; yet now we have the Attorney General condemning it. In the current
climate of justifiable revulsion over Watergate, we are in danger of erippling law
enforcement intelligence in a hysteria of reverse McCarthyism in which we plose
our eyes to evidence and some compelling necessities of domestic and international

security.”
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